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ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS
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KPMG Peat Marwick LLP
110 East Broward Boulevard Telephone 305 524 6@06fax 305 462 4836 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Crocker Realty Trust, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of Crocker Realty Trust, Inc. as of Decam3li, 1995, the related consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders' equitycasti flows for the year ended December 31, 199&ommection with our audit, we also hi
audited the financial statement schedule as listéige accompanying index as of and for the yededrDecember 31, 1995. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Compangisagement. Our responsibility is to express aniapion these financial statements based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generalbepted auditing standards. Those standardsegtat we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whethenthedial statements are free of material misstatemd@naudit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and digeesn the financial statements. An audit alsoudek assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by managememniell as evaluating the overall financial statetpeesentation. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the financial position of Crocker
Realty Trust, Inc. at December 31, 1995, and thelt® of their operations and their cash flowstlar year then ended, in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles. Alsounapinion, the related financial statement schedwhen considered in relation to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a whpodsent fairly, in all material respects, the iniation set forth therein.

(Signature of KPMG Peat Marwick LLP)

Fort Lauderdale, Florida
March 4, 1996



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Crockr Realty Trust, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying combined baldrext ©f Southeast Realty Corp., AP Southeast Riorffartners, L.P. and AP Fontaine
[l Partners, L.P. (the "Predecessor Entities"pBecember 31, 1994, and the related combinedmtatts of operations, owners' equity and
cash flows for the year then ended. These finastééments are the responsibility of managemamtré&sponsibility is to express an opinion
on the financial statements based upon our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generadbepted auditing standards. Those standardsedtyat we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whethemthedial statements are free of material misstaterdenaudit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and digelesn the financial statements. An audit alsoudek assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by managememtell as evaluating the overall financial statetpeesentation. We believe that our
audit provides a resonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements presainlyf, in all material respects, the combined ficiahposition of the Predecessor Entities ¢
December 31, 1994, and the combined results af tpeirations and their cash flows for the year dridlecember 31, 1994, in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles.

(Signature of Deloitte & Touche LLP)

Dallas, Texas
February 21, 1995



Report of Independent Accountants
To the Partners of AP Southeast Portfolio Partnersl_P.

In our opinion, the accompanying statements ofrimeoof partner's capital and of cash flows forgkeod from inception (November 17,
1993) through December 31, 1993 of AP SoutheagstdhorPartners, L.P. present fairly, in all matdniespects, the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the period from inceptiorofidmber 17, 1993) through December 31, 1993 inararify with generally accepted
accounting principles. These financial statemergstse responsibility of the Partnership's managenoair responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omuadit. We conducted our audit of these statemardasiordance with generally accepted
audit standards which require that we plan andoperthe audit to obtain reasonable assurance afwether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes exangnbn a test basis, evidence supporting the amm@ntt disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarggsignificant estimates made by managementgaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe our audit pesvadreasonable basis for the opinion expressecatée have not audited the financial
statements of AP Southeast Portfolio Partners,forPany period subsequent to December 31, 1993.

(Signature of Price Waterhouse LLP)

PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 7, 1994



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Crockr Realty Trust, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying statements oatipes, owners' equity and cash flows for the gkfiom October 28, 1993 (date of
inception) to December 31, 1993 of AP FontaindHttners, L.P. These financial statements areegonsibility of management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on therfirial statements based upon our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generadbepted auditing standards. Those standardsedtyat we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whethemthedial statements are free of material misstaterdenaudit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and dis@lssn the financial statements. An audit alsoudek assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by managememtell as evaluating the overall financial statetpeesentation. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements presainlyf, in all material respects of operations, ov&equity and cash flows of AP Fontaine Il
Partners, L.P. for the period from October 28, 1@88e of inception) to December 31, 1993, in comity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

(Signature of Deloitte & Touche LLP)

Dallas, Texas
February 10, 1995



CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. (The Company) and
CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. PREDECESSOR ENTITIES ( Predecessor Entities)

Consolidated Balance Sheet of the Company and GmdlBalance Sheet of the Predecessor Entities

(in thousands, except for share data)

The Company

Predecessor
Entities

Assets December 31, December 31,
1995 1994
Investment in real estate (note 3):
Rental properties, net of accumulated deprecia tion of $11,590 and
$5,279 at December 31, 1995 and 1994, respe ctively
$ 279,407 203,265
Land held for investment 11,159 -
Other assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 11) 5,719 132
Restricted cash (note 11) 9,007 10,318
Rents and expense reimbursements receivable, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $141 at December 31, 1995 (note 11)
969 818
Accounts receivable from managed properties 219 -
Deferred straight-line rents receivable 3,148 1,902
Deferred acquisition and offering costs (note 12) 2,156 556
Deferred loan costs, net of accumulated amort ization of $1,312 and $750 at
December 31, 1995 and 1994, respectively (n ote 4)
3,821 4,114
Deferred leasing costs, net of accumulated am ortization of $1,025 and $354
at December 31, 1995 and 1994, respectively
2,689 1,911
Prepaid expenses and other assets 666 195
Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net of acc umulated depreciation
of $60 at December 31, 1995 451 -
Management contracts, net of accumulated am ortization of $105 at
December 31, 1995 (note 9) 1,324 -
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $165 at December 31,
1995 (note 9) 3,941 -
Total assets $ 324,676 223,211
(Continue)
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CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. (The Company) and
CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. PREDECESSOR ENTITIES ( Predecessor Entities)

Consolidated Balance Sheet of the Company and GmdlBalance Sheet of the Predecessor Entities ifCiek)

Liabilities and Stockholders' and Owner

Liabilities:
Notes payable (note 4)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued interest expense (note 4)
Accrued real estate taxes
Accrued acquisition and offering costs (notes
Due to affiliates (notes 5, 6, and 7)
Rents paid in advance
Tenant security deposits
Deferred straight-line rents payable
Other liabilities, net (notes 4 and 10)

Total liabilities

Stockholders' equity (notes 1,6, and 7):
Preferred stock, $.01 par value. Authorized a
10,000,000 shares
Common stock, $.01 par value. Authorized 50,0
issued and outstanding 23,362,492 shares an
at December 31, 1995 and 1994, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings

Total stockholders' equity

Owners' equity (note 1)

Commitments and contingencies (notes 3, 4, 6, 7, 9,

Total liabilities and stockholders'

(in thousands, except for share data)

The Company
s' Equity December 31,

1995

$ 181,873
2,121
361
254

9 and 12) 1,805

679
1,369

156
1,919

nd unissued

00,000 shares;
d 12,528,859 shares

234
132,721
1,184
134,139
10, 11 and 12)
and owners' equity
$ 324,676

See accompanying notes to consolidated and combimattial statements.
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Predecessor
Entities
December 31,
1994

160,000
1,702
1,111

264

487
1,001

757

223,211



CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. (The Company) and
CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. PREDECESSOR ENTITIES ( Predecessor Entities)

Consolidated Statement of Operations of the CompadyCombined Statements of Operations of the Besder Entities

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

The Company Predecessor Ent ities
AP So utheast AP Fontaine
Port folio Il Partners,
Partne rs,L.P. L.P.
Perio d From Period From
Novem ber 17, October 28,
1 993 1993
Year Ended Year Ended (Incep tion) to (Inception) to
December 31, December 31, Combined Decem ber 31, December 31,
1995 1994 1993 1 993 1993
Revenue (note 3):
Rental income and tenant reimbursements $ 42,489 37,047 3,813 3 ,809 4
Management fees - building, development
and construction 618 - - - -
Leasing commissions 152 - - - -
43,259 37,047 3,813 3 ,809 4
Expenses:
Rental property operating expenses 8,632 5,601 611 603 8
Real estate taxes and insurance 3,680 3,343 359 353 6
Management fees (note 5) 1,289 2,122 219 219 -
Amortization of deferred leasing costs 682 349 7 7 -
Depreciation and amortization of property
and equipment (note 3) 6,414 4,761 518 512 6
Amortization of goodwill and management
contracts (note 9) 270 - - - -
General and administrative expenses
(note 6) 2,813 505 135 135 -
23,780 16,681 1,849 1 ,829 20
Operating income (loss) 19,479 20,366 1,964 1 ,980 (16)
Other income (expense):
Interest and other income 883 318 155 155 -
Gain from sale of land (note 9) 124 - - - -
Interest expense (note 4) (16,212) (14,001) (1,563) (1 ,563) -
Total other income (expense) (15,205) (13,683) (1,408) (1 ,408) -
Income (loss) before extraordinary loss 4,274 6,683 556 572 (16)
Extraordinary loss on early extinguishment of
debt (note 4) (429) - - - -
Net income (loss) $ 3,845 6,683 556 572 (16)
Earnings per common share:
Income before extraordinary loss $ 0.31 N/A N/A N /A N/A
Extraordinary loss (0.03) N/A N/A N /A N/A
Net income $ 0.28 N/A N/A N A N/A
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 13,537,976 N/A N/A N /A N/A

See accompanying notes to consolidated and combimaattial statement:
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CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. (The Company) and
CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. PREDECESSOR ENTITIES ( Predecessor Entities)

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equitylef Tompany and Combined Statements of Owners'yeofiihe Predecessor Entities

(in thousands, except for shares issued)

The Company Pre decessor Entities
Stockholders' Equity (e} wners' Equity
Common S tock  Additional AP Southe ast AP Fontaine
Shares Paid-In  Retained Portfolio Il Partners,
Issued Amount Capital Earnings Total Partners, L P. L.P. Combined
October 28, 1993 (Inception) - % - - - - - - -
November 17, 1993 (Inception) - - - - - 5,000 - 5,000
Contributions - - - - - 49,489 2,261 51,750
Net income - - - - - 572 (16) 556
December 31, 1993 - - - - - 55,061 2,245 57,306
Contributions - - - - - 400
Distributions - - - - - (6,500)
Net income - - - - - 6,683
Issuance of common stock (note
1) 12,528,859 125 57,759 - 57,884 (57,884)
December 31, 1994 12,528,859 125 57,759 - 57,884 5
Contributions (note 1) - - 1,769 - 1,769 -
Distributions (note 1) - - - (2,661) (2,661) -
Net income - - - 3,845 3,845 -
Issuances of common stock
(notes 1 and 9) 10,833,633 109 73,193 - 73,302 (5)
December 31, 1995 23,362,492 $ 234 132,721 1,184 134,139 -

See accompanying notes to consolidated and comkimaattial statements.

12



CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. (The Company) and

CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. PREDECESSOR ENTITIES ( Predecessor Entities)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows of the CompadyCombined Statements of Cash Flows of the Pesder Entities

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization of
property and equipment
Amortization of loan costs
Amortization of deferred leasing
costs
Amortization of organization costs
Amortization of goodwill and
management contracts
Bad debt expense
Loss on early extinguishment of debt

Gain on sale of land
(Increase) decrease in operating
assets:
Deferred straight-line rents
receivable
Rents and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Increase (decrease) in operating liabili
Accounts payable and accrued
expenses
Accrued interest expense
Accrued real estate taxes
Rents paid in advance
Tenant security deposits
Deferred straight-line rents
payable

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by
operating activities

(in thousands, except for shares issued)

The Company Predecessor Ent
AP So
Port
Partne
Perio
Novem
1
Year Ended Year Ended (Incep
December 31, December 31, Combined Decem
1995 1994 1993 1
3,845 6,683 556
6,414 4,761 518
737 667 84
682 349 7
4 3 -
270 - -
141 150 -
429 - -
(124) - -
(1,257) (1,558) (344)
(68) (462) (455)
(277) 162 (344)
ties:
(1,397) 192 1,440 1
(1,104) (386) 1,497 1
(506) (592) 805
(419) 765 236
245 96 661
156 - -
3,926 4,147 4,105 4
7,771 10,830 4,661 4

13

utheast AP Fontaine
folio Il Partners,

rs, L.P. L.P.

d From Period From
ber 17, October 28,
993 1993

tion) to(Inception) to
ber 31, December 31,

993 1993
572 (16)
512 6
84 -

7 -
(344) -
(452) @)
(338) (6)
433 7
497 -

793 12
236 -
661 -
,089 16
661 -

(continued)



CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. (The Company) and
CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. PREDECESSOR ENTITIES ( Predecessor Entities)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows of the CompadyCombined Statements of Cash Flows of the Pesder Entities, Continued

(in thousands, except for shares issued)

The Company Predecessor Ent ities
AP S outheast AP Fontaine
Por tfolio Il Partners,
Partn ers, L.P. L.P.
Peri od From Period From
Nove mber 17, October 28,
1993 1993
Year Ended Year Ended (Ince ption) to(Inception) to
December 31, December 31, Combined Dece mber 31, December 31,
1995 1994 1993 1993 1993
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net proceeds from sale of land $ 2,065 - - - -
Acquisition of rental properties and land (42,550) - (202,559) (20 0,298) (2,261)
Payments for building and tenant
improvements (4,574) 4,777)  (1,208) ( 1,208) -
Payment of deferred leasing costs (1,473) (1,790) (476) (476) -
Payments for furniture, fixtures and
equipment (426) - - - -
Payment of deferred acquisition costs (997) - - - -
Cash received from acquisitions 896 - - - -
Net cash used in investing
activities (47,059) (6,567) (204,243) (20 1,982) (2,261)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuances of common stock 66,883 - - - -
Net (increase) decrease in restricted cash 1,829 1,092 (6,410) ( 6,410) -
Borrowings under notes payable 482 - 160,000 16 0,000 -
Capital contributions 1,282 400 51,750 4 9,489 2,261
Repayment of note payable (20,000) - - - -
Dividends and Distributions (2,661) (6,500) - - -
Payment of offering and deferred offering
costs (2,940) - - - -
Payment of financing costs - (65) (4,801) ( 4,801) -
Payment of organization costs - - (15) (15) -
Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities 44,875 (5,073) 200,524 19 8,263 2,261
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 5,587 (810) 942 942 -
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 132 942 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 5,719 132 942 942 -
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow
information:
Interest paid $ 16,580 13,702 - - -

(continued)
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CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. (The Company) and
CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC. PREDECESSOR ENTITIES ( Predecessor Entities)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows of the CompadyCombined Statements of Cash Flows of the Pesder Entities, Continued
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing amahfiing activities:

During the six months ended June 30, 1995, the @ompeceived a capital contribution of the amouwrg tb the Apollo Real Estate
Investment Fund, L.P. ("Apollo Fund") at Decembgy B994 ($487,000) and recorded it as additional jpecapital.

During the six months ended June 30, 1995, the @ompxchanged 62,500 shares of common stock fahthes of common stock of
Options Corp. held by the Apollo Fund, 1,110 shafesommon stock for the outstanding shares of comstock of Operating Corp. held by
an affiliate of the Apollo Fund, and 31 sharesafhmon stock for the outstanding shares of commueksif Fontaine Operating Corp. held
by an affiliate of the Apollo Fund. In addition eti€ompany issued 35,000 shares of common stoclctor\Capital Group for its financial
advisory services related to the merger transagtion

On June 30, 1995, the Company issued 637,500 sbacesnmon stock for all of the outstanding comnstack of CSI and CRMSI. In
connection with the acquisition, the Company sudedédo the interests in the assets of CSI and CRMt8Ia fair value of approximately
$6.1 million and to the liabilities of CSI and CRMS approximately $904,000.

On July 1, 1995, the Company issued 1,020,000 shireommon stock for all of the outstanding commtmtk of CRI. In connection with
the acquisition, the Company succeeded to thedsteiof CRI in a portfolio of three office propesiwith a fair value of approximately $48.1
million and to all of the remaining assets of CRilwa fair value of approximately $2.4 million atalthe liabilities of CRI with a fair value of
approximately $45.4 million.

Details of the assets acquired, liabilities assuraed common stock issued in connection with adipns are as follows (in thousands):

Acquisition

CRMSI CRI of Sabal

Merger Merger  Properties Comb ined
Rental properties $ - (48,130) (29,736) (77, 866)
Land held for investment - - (13,085) (13, 085)
Restricted cash - (518) - ( 518)
Rents and expense reimbursements receivable - (99) (6) ( 105)
Accounts receivable from managed properties (875) - - ( 875)
Deferred loan costs - (713) (12) ( 725)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 9) (188) - ( 197)
Furniture, fixtures and equipment (87) - (87)
Management contracts (1,429) (1, 429)
Goodwill (3,702) - - (3, 702)
Mortgage notes payable - 41,383 8 41, 391
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 904 818 281 2, 003
Accrued interest expense 354 354
Accrued real estate taxes 496 496
Rents paid in advance 97 97
Tenant security deposits 367 367
Other liabilities 1,924 - 1, 924
Common stock 6 10 - 16
Additional paid-in capital 5,195 5,092 - 10, 287
Net cash provided by (used in) acquisitions $ 3 893  (42,550) (41, 654)

See accompanying notes to consolidated and combimattial statements.
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CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC.
Notes to Consolidated and Combined Financial Stateemts
(1) Organization and Formation Transactions

Crocker Realty Trust, Inc. (the "Company") was iparated under the Maryland General Corporation bavseptember 21, 1994 under the
name of Southeast Realty Corp. On June 30, 1985;timpany changed its name to Crocker Realty Tiust,The Company was formed to

succeed to the interests of Apollo Real Estatedtment Fund, L.P. (the "Apollo Fund") and its adfiés in AP Southeast Portfolio Partners,

L.P. ("AP Southeast Partnership") and AP FontaihBdrtners, L.P. ("Fontaine Partnership"), (cdilealy, the "Predecessor Entities"), which
collectively include a portfolio of 47 office progies.

The Company intends to qualify as a real estatestment trust ("REIT") for Federal income tax puags

On December 31, 1994, the Apollo Fund transferoethé Company its 99% limited partnership inter@s{s) AP Southeast Partnership, (ii)
AP-GP Southeast Portfolio Partners, L.P. ("AP Seasih GP"), which holds a 1% general partnershgrést in AP Southeast Partnership,
(iii) Fontaine Partnership, and (iv) AP-GP Fontditidartners, L.P. ("Fontaine GP"), which hold$% general partnership interest in
Fontaine Partnership (collectively, the "LimitedtRarships") in exchange for 12,528,759 share®ofroon stock of the Company.

The Company is the sole limited partner of AP Sea#t GP and the AP Southeast Partnership. On Jud®25, pursuant to the Amended
and Restated Transfer Agreement, dated as of Sbpte2f, 1994, between the Company and Southea$blRoOperating Corporation
("Operating Corp."), the general partner of AP &easst GP, Operating Corp. merged with and into a@lydowned subsidiary of the
Company, Southeast Realty GP Corp. ("GP CorpDelaware corporation. As a result of such mergé& Garp. is the sole general partner
of, and holds a 1% general partnership intereAfArSoutheast GP and the outstanding shares of canstook of Operating Corp. held by an
affiliate of the Apollo Fund were exchanged forIQlshares of common stock of the Company. AP Sasth@P is a Delaware limited
partnership and the sole general partner of th&aitheast Partnership. The AP Southeast Partnéssaipelaware limited partnership. All
of the assets of each of these entities are owpedth such entity and each such entity is a sepandity with its own separate creditors
which will be entitled to be satisfied out of itssats prior to any value therein becoming availables equity holders.

The Company is the sole limited partner of Fonta@feand the Fontaine Partnership. On April 13, 1988suant to the Amended and
Restated Transfer Agreement, dated as of Septe2®héan94, between the Company and Fontaine Il &jmey Corporation ("Fontaine il
Operating Corp."), the general partner of Font&ie Fontaine 11l Operating Corp., merged with ama ia wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Southeast Fontaine GP Corp. ("SF-GP QogDelaware corporation. As a result of such mer§F-GP Corp. is the sole general
partner of, and holds a 1% general partnershipaatén Fontaine GP and the outstanding sharesrofron stock of Fontaine Operating
Corp. held by an affiliate of the Apollo Fund wenechanged for 31 shares of common stock of the @oampg-ontaine GP is a Delaware
limited partnership and the sole general partnén@f-ontaine Partnership. The Fontaine Partneiskielaware limited partnership.
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On March 29, 1995, pursuant to the Amended andaResTransfer Agreement, dated as of Septembédr9®d,, between the Company and
Options Corp., whose sole assets are the landraptéferred to above, Southeast Options OperatimgdZation ("Options Corp.") merged
with and into Southeast Realty Options Corp., allyimwvned subsidiary of the Company, and the shafespital stock of Options Corp.
held by the Apollo Fund were exchanged for 62,3@res of common stock of the Company.

The Company has accounted for all of the foregairmuisitions of the Predecessor Entities at hisabdost in a manner similar to that in a
pooling of interests accounting due to the aboviies being under the common control of the Apéillnd and its affiliates. Accordingly, tl
Company's consolidated and combined financial staés include the restatement of the above entitiescial position, results of
operations and cash flows on a combined basishéopériods of inception during 1993 to Decemberl®®4. The consolidated and combil
financial information does not contain any mateaidjustments to conform to the accounting policissd by the Predecessor Entities to that
of the Company. All intercompany transactions hla@en eliminated.

On June 30, 1995, pursuant to an Agreement anddPlslerger, dated as of September 29, 1994, as éedefthe "CRMSI Merger
Agreement") among the Company, SER Management(18ER Management"), Crocker Realty Managementi€esyInc. ("CRMSI") and
Crocker & Sons, Inc. ("CSI"), CRMSI and CSI mergeith an into SER Management, a wholly-owned sulasidof the Company (the
"CRMSI Merger"). The outstanding shares of CRM3 &8I were exchanged for 637,500 shares of the @oyp common stock, of which
457,531 shares were issued to the Chairman of dhedBand Chief Executive Officer of the Company hisdspouse, 149,974 shares were
issued to the President and Chief Operating Offiféhe Company and 29,995 shares were issuee tBxbcutive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company.

As a result of the CRMSI Merger, the Company sudedéo the interests of the property, asset andtration management business and
leasing and brokerage business of CRMSI and CStatlekir respective assets and liabilities.

On July 1, 1995, pursuant to an Agreement and #fldherger, dated as of September 29, 1994, as amdefthe "CRI Merger Agreement"),
among the Company, SER Acquisition, Inc. ("SER Asigion") and Crocker Realty Investors, Inc. ("CRICRI merged with and into SER
Acquisition, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compdthe "CRI Merger"). Upon consummation of the @®Rdrger; (i) the outstanding
shares of common stock of CRI were exchanged @2Q1000 shares of the Company's common stockhéi2,340,000 CRI public warrants
each entitling the holder thereof to purchase,rduthe four year period ending January 21, 1998,strare of CRI common stock at $10.00
per share (subject to adjustment), were assuméebompany and entitle the holders thereof tolmse shares of the Company's common
stock at the same price and on the same termsamtitions as set forth in the CRI public warramaisd (iii) purchase options held by certain
individuals and GKN Securities Corp. (the underaridf CRI's 1993 initial public offering) to purcd®an aggregate of 210,292 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $7.85 persbB€RI common stock and the warrant held by Gariglectric Capital Corporation (see
note 4) to purchase an aggregate of 160,000 sh&feRI common stock at an exercise price of $1@&0share of CRI common stock were
assumed by the Company and entitle the holdersdhé&s purchase shares of the Company's commok atdbe same price and on the same
terms and conditions as set forth in the instrusipntsuant to which such options and warrant wsseeid. On December 28, 1995, the
Company entered into an agreement to pay
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$360,000 to certain individuals and GKN Securisp. for their purchase options and other rigletsl vy GKN Securities Corp. The
amount was accrued and charged to additional paddital at December 31, 1995 and was paid inalgrif96.

As a result of the CRI Merger, the Company succg¢dé¢he interests of CRI in a portfolio of threfiae properties and to all of the assets
and liabilities of CRI.

Pursuant to the Amended and Restated Transfer fgnele dated as of September 29, 1994, betweenpbbod-und and the Company, as
amended ("the Apollo Fund Transfer Agreement"),Apello Fund was entitled to receive additionalrsiseof the Company's common stock
at a price of $8.00 per share based on the exads Balance (as defined in the Apollo Fund Tranatgeement), at June 30, 1995. These
shares, which totaled 259,261, were issued on Dieeef®, 1995.

Distributions and contributions of $2.9 million éapreviously disclosed for the period from Janugr§995 through June 30, 1995, were
rescinded.

The following condensed combining schedule of thexlBcessor Entities as of and for the year endeérbleer 31, 1994 includes each entity
combined (in thousands):

AP Crocker
Southe ast Fontaine Realty Elimination Pre decessor
Partner ship Partnership Trust Entries En tities

For the year ended December 31, 1994:

Total revenue $ 36, 990 57 - - 37,047
Total expenses 16, 430 251 - - 16,681
Total other income (expense) (13, 685) 2 - - ( 13,683)
Net income (loss) 6, 875 (192) - - 6,683

As of December 31, 1994:
Total assets $ 220, 169 2,486 58,445 (57,889) 2 23,211

Total liabilities $ 164, 733 33 556 - 1 65,322

The combined financial statements of the Predecé&ssities have been presented using the histociwstl of those Predecessor Entities under
the common control of the Apollo Fund and its &fiés in a manner similar to that in a poolingrdérests accounting. No material
adjustments were required to conform the accoumoiigies of the entities consolidated.
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(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
() Principles of Consolidation

Commencing January 1, 1995, the financial statesnagfithe Company are consolidated and includecabants of the Company, its wholly-
owned subsidiaries, and a controlled subsidiarg dduity interests in the controlled subsidiary mwhed by the Company are immaterial.
All significant intercompany balances and trangattihave been eliminated in the consolidated filmhstatements.

(b) Real Estate Investments

Real estate investments are carried at cost, whisht in excess of each property's estimatedeadizable value. Cost includes all costs
directly related to the acquisition of each propgricluding legal fees and commissions, and atsof making improvements to the acqui
properties. Depreciation on the building and imgrments is computed using the straight-line methaa estimated useful lives.
Amortization of tenant improvements is computechgghe straight-line method over the initial letex@ns of the respective leases. Repairs
and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.

(c) Offering Costs

Offering costs are comprised of legal, accountfilgincial advisory, printing, commissions and otbests incurred in connection with the
offering of securities on July 1, 1995 and the atgvplacement of common stock on December 28, TB#se costs totaling $3.9 million
were charged to shareholders' equity upon consuimmatt the offering and private placement, $830,00&hich was accrued at December
31, 1995.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Includes cash, timesitspmoney market accounts and all highly lignigestments with original maturities of
three months or less when purchased.

Restricted Cash - Principally is comprised of amsuneld directly or indirectly by Bankers Trust Guamy pursuant to the terms of the AP
Southeast Partnership Indenture (see note

4). Such amounts include $7.0 million which the @amy has deposited as additional security for éméog mortgage, which will be
disbursed to the Company for tenant lease-up aoste event the Company has insufficient cashot@csuch costs. Restricted cash also
includes amounts escrowed for real estate taxesupnot to the terms of the GECC mortgage notes paysde note 4).

(e) Deferred Costs

Deferred loan costs incurred in connection witlaficing are amortized using the interest method theeterm of the loan. Amortization of
deferred loan costs is included in interest expémsige accompanying consolidated and combineadhiiiz statements. Deferred leasing costs
are comprised primarily of leasing commissions arelamortized on a straight-line basis over th&irterm of the respective leases.
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(f) Goodwill and Management Contracts

Goodwill and management contracts related to tlyeiaition of CSI and CRMSI is being amortized other anticipated period of benefit,
which ranges from five to twenty years, on a straiqne basis. Goodwill related to the costs inedrby the Company in excess of the fair
value of the net assets acquired from CRI is bamgrtized on a straight-line basis over five years.

The Company periodically reevaluates the recovétgbf its intangible assets as well as their atization periods to determine whether an
adjustment to the carrying value or a revisiorh® éstimated useful lives is appropriate. The pynvadicators of recoverability for the
Company's intangible assets are the current aeddsted operating cash flows which pertain to qudeir management agreement. A
management agreement that has a deficit in its fb@stfrom the management of properties for a fisital year, in light of the surrounding
economic environment, is viewed by the Company situation which could indicate impairment of valdi@king into account the above
factors, the Company determines that an impairdesisthas been triggered when the future undiscdwash flows associated with the
intangible asset does not exceed its current caygmount and the amount of the impairment losseteecorded is the difference between the
current carrying amount and the future projectedisocounted cash flows. The Company currently isexpieriencing a deficit in cash flows
from the management of properties. Based on thep@agis policy, management believes that there ispairment of value related to the
intangible assets as of December 31, 1995.

(9) Organization Costs
Organization costs are amortized using the strdigbtmethod over five years.
(h) Revenue Recognition

Rental income adjusted for concessions and fixedlasons is recognized for financial reportinggeses on a straight-line basis over the
initial term of each lease. Deferred rent on eaels¢ is recognized for the difference between Irerdame calculated on the straight-line
basis and the rental payments actually require@wiine terms of each lease. Any such amounts deancadlectible are reserved in the
period such a determination is made. For salesalfastate, profit is recognized in full when tlodlectibility of the sales price is reasonably
assured and the earnings process is virtually cetep\When the sale does not meet the requiremamntedognition of income, profit is
deferred until such requirements are met.

(i) Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

Earnings per share of common stock for the Companthe year ended December 31, 1995 has been ¢ethpy dividing income before
extraordinary item, the extraordinary item, andinebme by the weighted average number of sharesramon stock outstanding during the
period (see note 1). Common stock equivalents dezlun the computation represent shares issuable agpsumed exercise of stock options
and warrants which would have a dilutive effect. &lthe stock warrants and the vast majority @ shock options were antidilutive. The
stock options which had a dilutive effect dilutée fper share amounts by less than 3% and werensidered in computing the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during
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the year ended December 31, 1995. Earnings pee sifarmation is not presented for the PredecelSstties for the year ended December
31, 1994 or the periods of inception during 199B&zember 31, 1993 as the Predecessor Entitiespaeirerships.

()) Income Taxes

The Company intends to qualify as a real estatestmvent trust "REIT" under the provisions of theeinal Revenue Code for 1995. Under
these provisions, the Company is required to dhiste at least 95% of its taxable income to itsahalders to maintain this qualification and
not be subject to federal income taxes for theigomf taxable income distributed. As of Decembkr 395, the Company had not distribt
at least 95% of its taxable income to its sharedrsldThe Company will elect under Internal Reve@ode section 858 to declare a dividend
in 1996 and take a dividends paid deduction for 995, in order for the Company to effectivelgtdbute at least 100% of its 1995 taxable
income. After this section 858 dividend is paid ®ompany's effective distributions will equal @ceed the Company's 1995 taxable incc
and therefore no provision for federal income taxas been made. To maintain REIT qualification,Gleenpany must also satisfy tests
concerning the nature of its assets and incomereaa®t certain recordkeeping requirements.

The estimated taxable income for the year ende@mber 31, 1995, is approximately $3.5 million ptwihe dividends paid deduction. The
difference between net income for financial repartpurposes and taxable income is primarily dudeaecognition of rental income on a
straight-line basis for financial reporting purpesad differences in depreciable lives of the dgmaperties and improvements thereto. The
differences between the tax basis and the repartezlints of assets and liabilities is approxima$@y million and $2.0 million less,
respectively, compared to financial reporting anteun

(k) Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith generally accepted accounting principleguiees management to make certain
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities and disclosuieafingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported ansoofitevenue and expenses during the reportingghefictual results could differ from thc
estimates.

() Reclassifications
The 1993 and 1994 financial statements have bestassified to conform to the current period preagaon.
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(3) Investments in Real Estate

Components of rental properties as of Decembet 345 and 1994, are summarized as follows (in thulsa

Estimated
Useful
19 95 1994 Lives
Rental property land $ 54 ,493 42,375 -
Buildings and improvement 222 AL17 160,765 10 to 40 years
Tenant improvements 13 ,585 5,404 Life of lease
Construction in progress 502 - -
290 ,997 208,544
Accumulated depreciation (11 ,590) (5,279)
$ 279 ,407 203,265

Forty-six of the Company's 61 rental propertiehwitnet book value of $199.0 million are pledgedexairity for the Company's $140.0
million mortgage note (see note 4). Three of tgalgproperties with a net book value of $48.0 imillare pledged as security for the
Company's two mortgage notes payable held by GEBE€E rfote 4).

Space in the properties is leased to tenants undeth-to-month leases as well as operating leaghsnitial terms ranging from one to
twenty years. Leases provide for base rent plusheisement of certain operating expenses.

Commitments to complete improvements on rental gntigs as they are occupied total approximateyO¥XID at December 31, 1995.

Future minimum rentals, excluding tenant reimbursets of operating expenses, under noncancelablatopeleases as of December 31,
1995 are (in thousands):

Year ending December 31:

1996 $ 42,554
1997 36,807
1998 30,180
1999 22,927
2000 16,441
Thereafter 32,412
Total future minimum rentals $ 181,321

As discussed in note 9, the Company acquired appedgly 278 acres of undeveloped land and simuttasly sold approximately 48 of such
acres for $2.1 million and recognized a gain onstie of $124,000.
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(4) Mortgage Notes Payables

Mortgage notes payable consists of the followimgtlfiousands):

Mortgage note payable to Kidder Peabody Accept

("KPAC"), with monthly payments of intere
principal due on January 31, 2001 and s
Company's rental properties with a net boo
million, as well as an assignment of rents an
properties

December 31,

1995 1994

ance Corporation |
st at 7.88% with all
ecured by 46 of the
k value of $199.0
d other items at the

$ 140,000 140,00 0
Mortgage note payable to General Electric Capital C orporation ("GECC"),
as modified, with monthly payments of interest at GECC's Composite
Commercial Paper Rate plus 4.25% (10.08% at December 31, 1995)
with all principal due on April 27, 1999 and secured by three of
the Company's rental properties with a net book value of $48.0
million, as well as an assignment of rents an d other items at the
properties.
30,500 -
Mortgage note payable to GECC with monthly payme nts of interest at
GECC's Composite Commercial Paper Rate pl us 4.00% (9.83% at
December 31, 1995) with a maturity date of April 27, 1999 and
secured by the same three rental properties no ted above as well as
an assignment of rents and other items at the properties
11,365 -
Unsecured note payable with monthly payments of interest at 11.50%.
This note was paid in full on December 28, 199 5
- 20,00 0
Other 8 -
$ 181,873 160,00 0

Pursuant to an Indenture, dated March 1, 1994"fAReSoutheast Partnership Indenture"), amount Aitt&ast Partnership, Bankers Trust
Company of California, N.A. and Bankers Trust CompaAP Southeast Partnership issued a Mortgage iNdbe principal amount of $14(
million (the "Mortgage Note") to Kidder Peabody Agtance Corporation | ("KPAC"). The Mortgage Notats interest at the rate of 7.88%
per annum and the entire $140.0 million principaglbce is due on January 31, 2001. The Mortgage Natecured by a blanket first
mortgage lien on all 46 of the AP Southeast Pastriprproperties. The Mortgage Note is further seduny (i) a first priority assignment of
present and future lease encumbering portionseoAth Southeast Partnership properties, (ii) a sgdaterest in any personal property
owned by AP Southeast Partnership and (iii) a teiéd assignment of the right, title and interdsAB Southeast Partnership in and rights to
all management agreements relating to the AP Sastlrartnership properties.
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The Mortgage Note is a limited recourse obligatitb®P Southeast Partnership as to which, in theesta default under the Indenture of
Mortgage, recourse may be had only against thafsp&® Southeast Partnership properties and adssets that have been pledged as
security thereof.

The Mortgage Note held by KPAC was then depositénl & Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduit ("REMTrust, whose pass-through
certificates were sold to the public. This trangachad no material impact on the financial positid the AP Southeast Partnership.

The AP Southeast Partnership also had an unsejtunied note financing of $20.0 million which hadiged rate of interest of 11.5% and was
repayable in full on February 15, 2019. The jumote was subordinated to the Mortgage Note, wasegonrse to the AP Southeast
Partnership and contained restrictive covenantgrdigg repayment and property operations. The jueinder is an affiliate of a limited
partner of the Apollo Fund, the principal stockhesldf the Company. The junior note was paid offlithon December 28, 1995. An
extraordinary loss of $429,000 resulted from thamsaction related to the write-off of unamortizieflerred loan costs.

The Company acquired two loans with General Ele@apital Corporation ("GECC") in connection wittetCompany's acquisition of
Crocker Realty Investors, Inc. Both of the loangehBlpating interest rates based on the GECC Coitgg@®mmercial Paper Rate, which was
5.83% at December 31, 1995. The first loan (as @exbion April 27, 1994), which at December 31, 1888 an outstanding principal balau

of $11.4 million and approximately $85,000 avaitath be drawn upon, bears interest at the rateB8P8 per annum (at December 31, 1995).
The second loan, which had an outstanding prindipknce of $30.5 million at December 31, 1995rbederest at the rate of 10.08% per
annum (at December 31, 1995). Both loans requinetifyp payments of interest. The outstanding priathmlance of the first loan is due at
maturity on April 27, 1999. The outstanding priralipalance of the second loan is payable in an atregual to 50% of the annual cash flow
generated by the One Boca Place property after eayof interest on the loan and tenant improvemamtsexpenses on the One Boca Place
property for each calendar year subsequent to T8¥5.payment is limited to a maximum amount of $DB0 per year. All remaining unpaid
principal on the second loan is payable at matanityApril 27, 1999.

An additional interest amount of $115,000 and $iilion payable on the first and second GECC loantgd above, respectively, is due upon
any prepayment (at GECC's option) or at the regmelian's maturity. These additional interest amiswvere included in the Company's
calculation of the fair value of debt acquiredhe CRI Merger. The difference between the amoustitated as the fair value of debt
acquired, including the additional interest amoyatsl the outstanding principal balance of the GHg2@s at the date of the CRI Merger,
$1.9 million, was recorded as Other Liabilities amdeflected as such in the financial statemertiss amount is being amortized using the
interest method down to the actual amount of aoluti interest payable of $1.7 million at the majudate of the loans, April 27, 1999.

In connection with the second GECC loan noted ap@&CC was issued a warrant that, after adjustmeatsently entitles it to purchase
173,102 shares of the Company's common stock exemtise price of $9.24 per share. The warrantatos@anti-dilutive provisions which
may result in an adjustment to the actual numbshafes and exercise price per share each tim@aimpany issues more shares of common
stock. Upon any prepayment of the loan or at the'®maturity (whether by acceleration or otherjyi&&ECC will, at its option, be entitled to
exercise the warrant by making a payment of $1l6amito the Company.
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(5) Transactions With Related Parties

Direct acquisition costs, which have been capidito land and buildings, include fees paid in 1&9Batriot American Asset Management
Corporation ("Patriot American") in the amount df$96,000. Patriot American served as the asseagearior the AP Southeast Partnership
and Fontaine Partnership portfolios of propertieso ongoing basis and served as property managegrtain of the properties. Managem
fees for the years ended December 31, 1995 and &884he periods of inception during 1993 to Deoein81, 1993, include Patriot
American asset management fees of $475,000, $0002nd $100,000, respectively. Patriot American grovided asset management
services to the general partner of the Apollo Fiandther unrelated investments. Additionally, tlemtrolling investor of Patriot American is
also an investor as a limited partner in the gdrmdner of the Apollo Fund. Patriot American'sitract was terminated on June 30, 1995.

At December 31, 1994, the Company owed the Apaliod=$487,000. During the year ended December 35, 18is amount was forgiven
by the Apollo Fund and was recorded as additional-m capital by the Company.

(6) Employment Agreements

The Company has entered into employment agreenedfgstive as of July 1, 1995, with each of Mesémacker, Ackerman and Onisko. T
agreements with Messrs. Crocker and Ackerman hageyar terms; the agreement with Mr. Onisko httwree-year term. Under their
respective employment agreements, Mr. Crockersgite as Chairman of the Board and Chief Exec@iffieer, Mr. Ackerman will serve ¢
President and Chief Operating Officer and Mr. Oaisgkll serve as Executive Vice President and CRiafincial Officer. The agreements
provide for base annual salaries of $275,000 far@focker, $225,000 for Mr. Ackerman and $150,080Mr. Onisko and bonuses, if any,
the sole discretion of the Company's Board of Doex As noted below, the Company has granted n@atifged stock options to purchase
500,000 shares of Common Stock to each of Messogkér and Ackerman, and non-qualified stock ogitmpurchase 50,000 shares of
Common Stock to Mr. Onisko, in each case pursumatite Company's 1995 Stock Option Plan (see note

7). These options were granted upon consummatitimeoERI Merger and are exercisable at $10.00 hpgresas follows: (a) with respect to
options granted to Messrs. Crocker and Ackermamoi(i20% of the shares covered thereby afteritisednniversary of the date of grant; (ii)
for an additional 20% of the shares covered themebgach of the second, third and fourth anniversaand (iii) for the balance after the fifth
anniversary and (b) with respect to options grataedr. Onisko, for 33 1/3% of the shares coveteztéby on each of the first, second and
third anniversaries of the date of grant. All of thptions will expire on the tenth anniversaryhef tlate of grant.

(7) 1995 Stock Option Plan

The Company has adopted the 1995 Stock Option(BiariStock Option Plan"). The Stock Option Plaayides for the granting of non-
qualified stock options to purchase Common Stocdnployees and, as described below, non-employeetdis of the Company. The Stock
Option Plan will be administered by the Compengsa@iommittee or another committee appointed fronetimtime by the Company's Board
of Directors. The Stock Option Plan will termin@&eMay 2005, unless sooner terminated by the Coripdoard of Directors.
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A maximum of 1,275,000 shares of Common Stock éuthip adjustment under certain circumstances)beagsued under the Stock Option
Plan. Under the terms of the Stock Option Plarperson may be granted options in any calendartggaurchase more than 500,000 shares
of Common Stock.

As of December 31, 1995, options to purchase areggte of 1,050,000 shares of Common Stock ar¢amulisig to Messrs. Crocker,
Ackerman and Onisko, options to purchase 192,0afestof Common Stock are outstanding to othererficand options to purchase an
aggregate of 21,000 shares of Common Stock ar¢gaodisg to the seven non-employee directors. Tleecese price of the options granted to
the officers and directors is $10.00 and $8.00spere, respectively. One-third of the options efrton-employee directors become
exercisable on the date of grant and the balantéd&edome exercisable in two equal annual instatit®ebeginning on the first anniversary of
the date of grant, and will have a term of ten gear

The Stock Option Plan provides that the option egerprice may not be less than the fair markeievaf the shares of Common Stock on the
date of the grant of the option.

(8) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The following disclosure of the estimated fair vahf financial instruments is made in accordanda thie requirements of SFAS No. 107,
"Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instrit&n(FAS 107). The estimated fair value amountshaeen determined by management of
the Company using available market information appropriate valuation methodologies. However, agrsible judgment is necessarily
required in interpreting market data to developdbtmates of fair value. Accordingly, the estinsgteesented herein are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that the Company couddize in a current market exchange. The use oéudifit market assumptions and/or
estimation methodologies may have a material etiedhe estimated fair value amounts.

At December 31, 1995, the carrying amount anddirevilue of the Company's financial instrumenssgatermined under FAS 107, were as
follows (in thousands):

Carrying Estimated

Amount Fair Value
Senior mortgage financing notes $ 140,000 133,000
GECC note $ 30,500 ( A) 32,200
GECC note $ 11,365 ( A) 11,500
Other $ 8 8

(A) The $1.9 million difference between the amoceitulated as the fair value of debt acquired &edutstanding principle balance of the
GECC loans at the date of the CRI Merger was rextbess Other Liabilities and is reflected as sudhénfinancial statements. (See note 4)

The estimated fair value of the notes was based apoent market values for instruments with simitams.
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(9) Acquisitions and Private Placements

As a result of the July 1, 1995 CRI Merger anddtee 30, 1995 CRMSI Merger, the Company succeedtbtinterests of Crocker Realty
Investors, Inc. ("CRI") in a portfolio of three @& properties and to the property, asset and rai&in management business and leasing
brokerage business of CRMSI and CSI and to ahefassets and liabilities of the respective estitie

The CRMSI Merger was accounted for under the pwemaethod of accounting based on the estimateddhie of the assets acquired as
there was no established market for the Companysrmon stock prior to the consummation of the CRMIi8tger. The assets acquired in the
CRMSI Merger are comprised primarily of buildingnstruction and leasing management agreement®asith) and brokerage operations.
Of the total estimated fair value of the assetaimed, approximately $1.4 million is classifiedManagement Contracts, and approximately
$3.7 million is classified as Goodwill. The Compaswns 100% of the issued and outstanding vmtirig preferred stock and 3% of the iss
and outstanding common stock of the leasing compdmgh provides leasing and brokerage servicesdperties not owned by the
Company, CRT Leasing, Inc., a Delaware corporat@RT Leasing, Inc. has been consolidated into thg@any's financial statements. The
nonvoting preferred stock generally is entitled toidends equal to 95% of all distributions of CRT &ieg, Inc. The portion of the estimai
fair value allocated to Management Contracts iadp@imortized over a period of 5-10 years and thi@guoattributable to Goodwill is being
amortized over a period of 20 years.

The CRI Merger was accounted for under the purchretbod of accounting based on the estimated &hirevof the assets and liabilities
acquired as there was no established market faC¢imepany's common stock prior to the consummatfdheoCRI Merger. The assets
acquired were comprised primarily of three officeperties with a combined appraised value of agprately $48.1 million encumbered by
approximately $41.4 million of variable interesteranortgage notes payable.

On December 28, 1995, the Company sold 8,818,28stof Common Stock to AEW Partners, L.P., a penfsind advisor ("AEW"), in a
private placement transaction for $64.8 milliongiagximately $7.35 per share). Additional shares tmayssued to AEW in the event certain
purchase price adjustments are triggered. Managemeéaves the number of additional shares whicly beissued to AEW will not be
material to the number of shares originally issteedEW.

On December 29, 1995, the Company completed thaisitign of 11 buildings and approximately 278 acoé land within Sabal Park in
Tampa, Florida, from Sabal Corporation, a whollyned subsidiary of Stone and Webster Incorporathd.aBsets were acquired for an
aggregate cash consideration of $42.5 million. teacurrent transaction, the Company contractesticapproximately 63 acres of the land
acquired from Sabal Corporation to Security Capitdlustrial Trust and sold approximately 48 of saches on December 29, 1995 with the
sale of remaining land (consisting of two parcelm)tingent upon the resolution or satisfactionestain conditions.

On January 12, 1996, the Company sold 1,875,00@sluh the Common Stock to Fortis Benefits Insues@ompany and its affiliate, Time
Insurance Company, in a private placement trarmaétir $15.0 million ($8.00 per share).
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On January 16, 1996, the Company and certain stitsidiaries completed the acquisition of (i) mifice buildings located in Memphis,
Tennessee, and in Tampa and Jacksonville, Fldiiiigur parcels of land in Memphis and Tampa &iiiyymanagement contracts for an
aggregate of approximately 700,000 square fegbatesin Memphis and Tampa, each from affiliateSafermarc Corporation (see note 1

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated ttssaf operations for the years ended Decembel 335 and 1994 have been prepared
assuming the above transactions occurred at tharbeg of each such period, after giving effect@stain adjustments, including the
amortization of goodwill and management contratke following unaudited pro forma consolidated fessaf operations is not necessarily
indicative of results of operations that would haeeurred had the transactions been made as @& taiss or of results that may occur in the
future (dollars in thousands except per share atsjiun

December 31,

1995 1994

(unaudited)
Revenue $ 69,128 $ 67,083
Net income $ 8,074 $ 9,348

Net income per common share $ 030 $ 0.35

Weighted average number of common shares o utstanding 26,925,431 26,925,431

(10)

Pro forma net income is approximately $
ended December 31, 1995 compared to the y
even though pro forma revenue (excluding
increased during the respective periods b
This is primarily due to decreases in
termination fee revenue. A sales commis
during the year ended December 31, 1994 on
owned properties. Lease termination fe
$291,000 and $575,000 for the years ended

Commitments and Contingencies

Under the terms of the original purchase a
Southeast Partnership acquired its 46 pr
North Carolina, N.A., in November 1993,
obligated to pay a Deferred Contingent P
the AP Southeast Partnership purchase
payment, which will in no event exceed $4.
1998, if the actual four-year cumulativ
1994 to 1997 of the AP Southeast Partners
exceeds the projected four-year cash flow
results for 1994 and 1995 and estima
management does not believe that any Defer
will be payable.

The Company is not currently involved in a
to its knowledge, is any material liti
against it or any of its properties, ex
arising in the ordinary course of busines
to be covered by liability insurance. Wh
matters cannot be predicted with certaint
the final outcome of such matters will
effect on the financial position, result

of the Company.
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1,274,000 lower for the year

ear ended December 31, 1994,
interest and other income)

y approximately $2,045,000.

sales commission and lease

sion of $1,157,000 was earned
the sale of two third-party

e revenue was approximately

December 31, 1995 and 1994.

greement pursuant to which AP
operties from NationsBank of
AP Southeast Partnership is
urchase Price, as defined in
agreement. This contingent
4 million, is due on April 1,

e cash flow for fiscal years
hip properties (as defined)
(as defined). Based on actual
tes of future operations,

red Contingent Purchase Price

ny material litigation, nor,
gation currently threatened
cept for routine litigation

s, most of which is expected
ile the resolution of these

y, management believes that
not have a material adverse
s of operations or cash flows
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Management believes that any costs associ
or compliance with applicable environme
which the Company may be subject would
effect on the financial condition, result

of the Company.

A number of federal, state and local laws
with Disabilities Act, which may requir
buildings to improve, or restrict certai
access to such buildings by disabled pers
may impose further requirements on owne
disabled persons. The costs of compli
substantial and may reduce overall
investments. The Company believes that a
substantial compliance with laws currentl
its properties, periodically, to determi
existing laws and any additional laws that

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company owns office properties located
the Southeast United States, including Ala
Carolina, South Carolina, Tennessee and Vi
that potentially subject the Company to
consist primarily of cash, cash equivalent

As required under the terms of the AP Sout
(see note 4), certain receipts arising
encumbered properties are required to be
maintained at NationsBank, N.A. Th
approximately $0.7 million and $0.8 mil
1994, respectively, are swept period
maintained by the Indenture Trustee,
California, N.A. ("Trustee"). Funds he
December 31, 1995 and 1994 include $7 mill
security for the senior mortgage note
continually invested in corporate commer
approximately 30 days and $0.5 million is
of the Trustee's treasury money funds. A
the Trustee, totaling approximately $0.
December 31, 1995 and 1994, respectively,
the Trustee's treasury money funds.
investments approximates fair market v
maturity of the investments and the Comp
exposed to any significant risk on such in
the AP Southeast Partnership Indenture,
monthly to the Company to fund operations

The Company places the vast majority of i
with First Union National Bank, N.A. ("Fir
generally held in either noninterest bea
accounts, and the total amount held by
usually substantially exceeds the amount
agencies of the United States Government
defaults.

The majority of available funds held in th
account at First Union are invested nigh
purchase agreements. At December 31, 1
million of such securities under agreement
maturity date of the Company's reverse
next day of business. Due to the short-te
the Company does not take possession o
instead held at First Union from which it
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ated with environmental risks
ntal laws or regulations to

not have a material adverse
s of operations or cash flows

exist, such as the Americans
e modifications to existing

n renovations, by requiring
ons. Additional legislation

rs with respect to access by
ance with such laws may be
returns of the Company's
Il of its properties are in

y in effect, and will review

ne continuing compliance with
are hereafter promulgated.

in seven different states in
bama, Georgia, Florida, North
rginia. Financial instruments
concentrations of credit risk

s and trade receivables.

heast Partnership Indenture
from the operations of the
deposited in lockbox accounts
ese amounts, which total
lion at December 31, 1995 and
ically into trust accounts
Bankers Trust Company of
Id by the Trustee at both
ion deposited as additional
of which $6.5 million is
cial paper with a maturity of
continually maintained in one
Il other funds deposited with
6 million and $2.2 million at
are also maintained in one of
The carrying value of the
alue because of the short
any believes that it is not
vestments. In accordance with
certain funds are transferred
and capital expenditures.

ts cash and cash equivalents
st Union"). Such amounts are
ring accounts or money market
First Union at any given time

s that would be guaranteed by
in the event that First Union

e Company's primary operating
tly by First Union in reverse
995, the Company held $5.5
s toresell. Generally, the
repurchase agreements is the
rm nature of the agreements,

f the securities, which are
purchases the
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securities. The carrying value of the a
market value because of the short maturity
Company believes that it is not exposed to
investments.

Concentrations of credit risk with respe
limited because of the large number of geo
which make up the Company's customer bas
risk. The carrying value of trade receivab
value because of the short maturity of the
believes that itis not exposed to any
receivables.

Subsequent Events

On January 12, 1996, the Company sold 1,
Stock to Fortis Benefits Insurance Comp
Insurance Company, in a private placement
($8.00 per share).

On January 16, 1996, the Company and
completed the acquisition of (i) nine
Memphis, Tennessee, and in Tampa and Jack
parcels of land in Memphis and Tampa and (
an aggregate of approximately 700,000 sq
and Tampa, each from affiliates of Towerma
consideration for the acquisitions was app
was paid as follows: (i) $900,000 in cash
form of assumption of indebtedness; an
common stock of the Company. Subsequent
paid down an aggregate of approximatel
assumed.

The Company is currently developing an of
Office Park in Columbia, South Carolina.

is expected to be approximately $7.6 m
purchase of land for approximately $1.2 mi
an approximately 81,000 square foot off
contract entered into with the builder,
fixed. The entire building has been leased

The Company has entered into a contract to
in Greenville, South Carolina, for $1.6
that it can develop 100,000 square feet of
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greements approximates fair
of the investments and the
any significant risk on such

ct to trade receivables are
graphically diverse customers
e, thus spreading the credit
les approximates fair market
receivables and the Company
significant risk on such

875,000 shares of the Common
any and its affiliate, Time
transaction for $15.0 million

certain of its subsidiaries
office buildings located in
sonville, Florida, (ii) four

iii) management contracts for
uare feet of space in Memphis
rc Corporation. The aggregate
roximately $81.4 million and

; (i) $67.2 million in the

d (iii) 1,687,939 shares of

to the closing, the Company
y $9.4 million of the debt

fice building in Center Point
The total cost of the project
illion, which includes the
llion and the construction of
ice building. Pursuantto a
the construction costs are
to a single tenant.

acquire eight acres of land
million. The Company believes
rentable space on this land.



CROCKER REALTY TRUST, IN

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHE
(in thousands, except for sha

ASSETS

Investment in real estate:
Rental properties, net of accumulated depreciatio
$14,200 at March 31, 1996
Office building under construction
Land held for investment

Other assets:

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Rents and expense reimbursements receivable, net
allowance for doubtful accounts of $111 at
March 31, 1996

Accounts receivable from managed properties

Deferred straight-line rents receivable

Deferred acquisition and offering costs

Deferred loan costs, net of accumulated amortizat
$1,593 at March 31, 1996

Deferred leasing costs, net of accumulated amorti
$1,192 at March 31, 1996

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Furniture, fixtures and equipment, net of accumul
depreciation of $97 at March 31, 1996

Management contracts, net of accumulated amortiza
of $156 at March 31, 1996

Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $248
at March 31, 1996

Total assets
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March 31,
1996

$357,617
2,137
16,285

6,404
11,338

1,267
290

3,461
126

4,369

3,087
1,297
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CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS, CONTINUED
(in thousands, except for share data)

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Liabilities:
Notes payable
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued interest expense
Accrued real estate taxes
Accrued acquisition and offering costs
Dividend payable
Rents paid in advance
Tenant security deposits
Deferred straight-line rents payable
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $.01 par value, Authorized and
unissued 10,000,000 shares

Common stock, $.01 par value, Authorized 50,000,0
shares; issued and outstanding 26,981,087 share
at March 31, 1996

Additional paid-in capital

Retained earnings

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tisients.

32

March 31,
1996

$239,502
3,627
518
1,519
772
4,047
1,160
1,494
223

270
158,393



CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except for per share amounts)

Revenue:
Rental income and tenant reimbursements
Management fees-building, development and
construction
Leasing commissions

Expenses:
Rental property operating expenses
Real estate taxes andinsurance
Management fees
Amortization of deferred leasing costs
Depreciation and amortization of property and
equipment
Amortization of goodwill and management contracts
General and administrative expenses
Costs incurred for terminated offering

Operating income

Other income (expense):
Interest and other income
Interest expense

Total other income (expense)

Net income

Net income per share of common stock

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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Three Months Three Months

Ended Ended
March 31, March 31,
1996 1995

$ 16,970 $ 9,161

4,594 1,319

1,601 821
115 511
197 153

2,663 1,312
134 -

1,480 279
390 -

26,429,113 12,530,942




CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands, except for shares issued)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and
equipment
Amortization of loan costs
Amortization of deferred leasing costs
Amortization of organization costs
Amortization of goodwill and management
contracts
Bad debt expense
Stock bonuses
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:
Deferred straight-line rents receivable
Rents and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued interest
Accrued real estate taxes
Accrued terminated offering costs
Rents paid in advance
Tenant security deposits
Deferred straight-line rents payable

Total adjustments

Net cash provided by operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of rental properties and land
Acquisition of land held for investment
Office building under construction
Payments for building and tenant improvements
Payment of deferred leasing costs
Payments for furniture, fixtures and equipment
Refund of deferred acquisition costs, net

Net cash used in investing activit

Three Months Three Months
Ended Ended
March 31, March 31,

1996 1995
$1,631 1,502
2,663 1,312
272 171
197 153
1 1
134 -
2 -
231 -
(313) (320)
(386) 185
(632) (190)
599 (708)
(81) -
1,194 449
278 -
482  (63)
125 229
67 -
4,833 1,219
6,464 2,721
(1,724) -
(1,648) -
(1,671)

(905) (-681)
(304) (396)

(Continued)
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CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, CONTINUED
(In thousands, except for shares issued)

Three Months Three Months

Ended Ended
March 31, March 31,
1996 1995
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock $15,000 -
Net (increase) decrease in restricted cash (2,331) (1,074)
Payments under notes payable (9,609) -
Dividends paid (809) (500)
Payment of offering costs (791) -
Payment of financing costs (938) -
Net cash provided by (used in) financing
activities 522 (1,574)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 685 70
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,719 132
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 6,404 202
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW
INFORMATION:
Interest paid $4,864 3,333

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FI NANCING ACTIVITIES:

During the three months ended March 31, 1995, hrafgany exchanged 62,500 shares of common sto¢kdmhares of common stock of
Options Corp. held by the Apollo Fund.

During the three months ended March 31, 1996, trafgany issued 24,000 shares of common stock whéfully-vested and 31,656 shares
of common stock which vest 100% in three yearsettain officers of the Company.

On January 16, 1996, the Company issued 1,687}88@s of common stock in connection with the Tovwaemacquisition. Details of assets
acquired, liabilities assumed and common stockeidsn connection with the Towermarc acquisitioassollows:

Rental properties $(79,208)
Land held for investment (3,460)
Deferred acquisition costs 1,713
Mortgage notes payable 67,237
Accrued interest expense 238
Accrued real estate taxes 71
Accrued acquisition costs (975)
Common stock 17
Additional paid-in capital 12,643
Net cash used in acquisition (,724)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsisients.
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CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) ORGANIZATION AND FORMATION TRANSACTIONS

Crocker Realty Trust, Inc. (the "Company") was ipayated under the Maryland General Corporation bavseptember 21, 1994 under the
name of Southeast Realty Corp. On June 30, 1985;timpany changed its name to Crocker Realty Tiust,The Company was formed to
succeed to the interests of Apollo Real Estatedtment Fund, L.P. (the "Apollo Fund") and its adfiés in AP Southeast Portfolio Partners,
L.P. ("AP Southeast Partnership"), AP-GP SouthBastfolio Partners, L.P., Southeast Portfolio OpiegaCorporation, AP Fontaine Ill
Partners, L.P., AP-GP Fontaine Ill Partners, LF®ntaine 11l Operating Corporation and Southeagiddp Operating Corporation
(collectively, the "Predecessor Entities"), whiahlectively include a portfolio of 47 office andfife/service properties and options to acquire
up to five parcels of undeveloped land adjacerertain of such properties.

The Company accounted for the acquisitions of tiherésts of the Apollo Fund and its affiliates stdrical cost in a manner similar to that in
a pooling of interests accounting due to the atemtities being under the common control of the ApBlnd and its affiliates.

On June 30, 1995, pursuant to an Agreement anddPlslierger, dated as of September 29, 1994, as édedefthe "CRMSI Merger
Agreement”) among the Company, SER Management("8ER Management"), Crocker Realty ManagementiesyInc. ("CRMSI") and
Crocker & Sons, Inc. ("CSI"), CRMSI and CSI mergeith and into SER Management, a wholly-owned subsydof the Company (the
"CRMSI Merger"). The outstanding shares of CRMSd &8I were exchanged for 637,500 shares of the @og'pcommon stock, of which
457,531 shares were issued to the Chairman of dhedBand Chief Executive Officer of the Company hisdspouse, 149,974 shares were
issued to the President and Chief Operating Offiféhe Company and 29,995 shares were issuea tBxbcutive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company.

As a result of the CRMSI Merger, the Company sudeddo the interests of the property, asset andtngtion management business and
leasing and brokerage business of CRMSI and CStatlekir respective assets and liabilities.

On July 1, 1995, pursuant to an Agreement and #flderger, dated as of September 29, 1994, as amdefthe "CRI Merger Agreement"),
among the Company, SER Acquisition, inc. ("SER Asitjon") and Crocker Realty Investors, Inc. ("CRICRI merged with and into SER
Acquisition, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compdthe "CRI Merger"). Upon consummation of the @Rdrger; (i) the outstanding
shares of common stock of CRI were exchanged 201000 shares of the Company's common stockhéi?,340,000 CRI public warrants
each entitling the holder thereof to purchase,rduthe four year period ending January 21, 1998,strare of CRI common stock at $10.00
per share (subject to adjustment), were assumdideb§ompany and entitle the holders thereof tolmase shares of the Company's common
stock at the same price and on the same termsamtitions as set forth in the CRI public warraaisd (iii) purchase options held by certain
individuals and GKN Securities Corp. (the Underaribf CRI's 1993 initial public offering) to purct®an aggregate of 210,292 shares of
CRI common stock at an exercise price of $7.8%pare of CRI common stock and the warrant held &ye@al Electric Capital Corporation
to purchase an aggregate of 160,000 shares of @RMnon stock at an exercise price of $10.00 pershar
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of CRI common stock were assumed by the Companeatitie the holders thereof to purchase shardsso€ompany's common stock at the
same price and on the same terms and conditiosstdisrth in the instruments pursuant to which soptions and warrant were issued. On
December 28, 1995, the Company entered into areagmet to pay $360,000 to certain individuals andNGBécurities Corp. for their
purchase options and other rights held by GKN SgesiCorp. The amount was accrued and chargeddibi@nal paidin capital at Decemb
31, 1995 and was paid in January 1996.

As a result of the CRI Merger, the Company succg¢dé¢he interests of CRI in a portfolio of threfiae properties and to all of the assets
and liabilities of CRI.

(2) BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The interim consolidated financial statements idelliherein have been prepared by the Company withmlit. The statements have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepteduaticny principles for interim financial informatiaand with the instructions to Form 10-Q
and Rule 10-01 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, tleynot include all of the information and footr®tequired by generally accepted
accounting principles for complete financial stag¢eis.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying dited consolidated financial statements contaimdjlistments (consisting of normal
recurring adjustments) considered necessary t@ptéairly the Company's financial position as adfgh 31, 1996 and December 31, 1995,
and the results of its operations and cash flowshi® three months ended March 31, 1996 and 199&sd consolidated financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the 1995 finahstatements and notes thereto included in thepaogis Form 10-K.

The consolidated results of operations for thegmenths ending March 31, 1996 and 1995 are n@&ssecily indicative of the results to be
expected for the full year.

Certain reclassifications have been made to thelMat, 1995 balances in order to conform to theqretion used at March 31, 1996.
(3) INCOME TAXES

The Company qualifies as a real estate investmesit {'REIT") under the provisions of the InterfRdvenue Code. Under these provisions,
the Company is required to distribute at least @%s taxable income to its shareholders to mairtais qualification and not be subject to
federal income taxes for the portion of taxableome distributed. To maintain REIT qualificationet@ompany must also satisfy tests
concerning the nature of its assets and incomere®t certain recordkeeping requirements.
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(4) ACQUISITIONS AND PRIVATE PLACEMENTS

As a result of the July 1, 1995 CRI Merger andXhee 30, 1995 CRMSI Merger, the Company succeedttbtinterests of CRI in a portfol
of three office properties and to the propertygtiasd construction management business and leasthgrokerage business of CRSI and
and to all of the assets and liabilities of thepezdive entities.

The CRMSI Merger was accounted for under the pwemaethod of accounting based on the estimateddhie of the assets acquired as
there was no established market for the Companysrmon stock prior to the consummation of the CRMIi8tger. The assets acquired in the
CRMSI Merger are comprised primarily of buildingnstruction and leasing management agreement®asith) and brokerage operations.
Of the total estimated fair value of the assetaimed, approximately $1.4 million was classifiedvdanagement Contracts, and approxima
$3.7 million was classified as Goodwill. The Compamwns 100% of the issued and outstanding non-ggimeferred stock and 9.9% of the
issued and outstanding common stock of the leaingpany, CRT Leasing, Inc., a Delaware corporatidrich provides leasing and
brokerage services to properties not owned by thragany. CRT Leasing, Inc. has been consolidatedtive Company's financial statemel
The non-voting preferred stock generally is erditle dividends equal to 95% of all distributionsGRT Leasing, Inc. The portion of the
estimated fair value allocated to Management Cotgria being amortized over a period of 5-10 yead the portion attributable to Goodwiill
is being amortized over a period of 20 years.

The CRI Merger was accounted for under the purchretbod of accounting based on the estimated &hirevof the assets and liabilities
acquired as there was no established market faC¢imepany's common stock prior to the consummatfdheoCRI Merger. The assets
acquired were comprised primarily of three officeperties with a combined appraised value of agprately $48.1 million encumbered by
approximately $41.4 million of variable interesteranortgage notes payable.

On December 28, 1995, the Company sold 8,818,28stof Common Stock to AEW Partners, L.P., a penfsind advisor ("AEW"), in a
private placement transaction for $64.8 milliongagximately $7.35 per share). Additional shares imayssued to AEW in the event certain
purchase price adjustments are triggered. Managemeséaves the number of additional shares whicly beissued to AEW will not be
material in relation to the number of shares oafjjnissued to AEW.

On December 29, 1995, the Company completed thaisitign of 11 buildings and approximately 278 acoé land within Sabal Park in
Tampa, Florida, from Sabal Corporation, a whollyred subsidiary of Stone and Webster Incorporathd.aEsets were acquired for an
aggregate cash consideration of $42.5 million. te@acurrent transaction, the Company contractesticapproximately 63 acres of the land
acquired from Sabal Corporation to Security Capitdlustrial Trust and sold approximately 48 of saches on December 29, 1995 with the
sale of remaining land (consisting of two parcelmtingent upon the resolution or satisfactionestain conditions.

38



CROCKER REALTY TRUST, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On January 12, 1996, the Company sold 1,875,00@slud the Common Stock to Fortis Benefits Insues@ompany and its affiliate, Time
Insurance Company, in a private placement trarmadbr $15.0 million ($8.00 per share).

On January 16, 1996, the Company and certain stiltsidiaries completed the acquisition of (i) mffece buildings located in Memphis,
Tennessee, and in Tampa and Jacksonville, Fldiifiigur parcels of land in Memphis and Tampa &iiiyymanagement contracts for an
aggregate of approximately 700,000 square fegbatesin Memphis and Tampa, each from affiliateSafiermarc Corporation.

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated Hssaf operations for the three months ended M&ichl996 and 1995 have been prepared
assuming the above transactions occurred at tharbag of each such period, after giving effectéstain adjustments, including deprecia
and amortization. The following unaudited pro forommsolidated results of operations is not necégsadicative of results of operations tl
would have occurred had the transactions been amdéthose dates or of results that may occurarfuture (dollars in thousands except per
share amounts):

March 31,
1996 1995
 (unaudited)
Revenue $ 18,091 17,282
Net income $ 1,661 2,019
Net income per common share $ 0.06 0.07
Weighted average number of common shares outstandin g 26,981,087 26,981,087

Pro forma net income for the three months endedcMai, 1996 is lower than the respective periotd@5 primarily due to the incurrence of
$390,000 of costs for a secondary offering in itet fuarter of 1996 which was terminated.

The Company has made other acquisitions duringjrstequarter of 1996 which are not included in #imve pro forma consolidated results
of operations as follows:

The Company is currently developing an office binigdin Center Point Office Park in Columbia, So@arolina. The total cost of the project
is expected to be approximately $7.6 million, whictludes the January 4, 1996 purchase of landgproximately $1.2 million and the
construction of an approximately 81,000 square &dfate building. Pursuant to a contract entered imith the builder, the construction costs
are fixed. The building is expected to be complétetthe fourth quarter of 1996 and is approximatyo pre-leased.

On March 27, 1996, the Company acquired eight aafréend in Greenville, South Carolina, for 1.6 linih. The Company believes that it can
develop 100,000 square feet of rentable spaceistatid.
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(5) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Under the terms of the original purchase agreemersuant to which AP Southeast Partnership acqitsetb properties from NationsBank

of North Carolina, N.A., in November 1993, AP Saahkt Partnership is obligated to pay a Deferredi@gent Purchase Price, as defined in
the AP Southeast Partnership purchase agreemastcdmtingent payment, which will in no event exd&d.4 million, is due on April 1,

1998, if the actual four-year cumulative cash flofthe AP Southeast Partnership properties (ase@fiexceeds the projected four-year cash
flow (as defined). Based on actual results to dateestimates of future operations, managementrdudselieve that any Deferred Conting
Purchase Price will be payable.

The Company is not currently involved in any matklitigation, nor, to its knowledge, is any magtitigation currently threatened against it
or any of its properties, except for routine litiga arising in the ordinary course of businesssnud which is expected to be covered by
liability insurance. While the resolution of thasatters cannot be predicted with certainty, manageelieves that the final outcome of s
matters will not have a material adverse effecthenfinancial position, results of operations atcllows of the Company.

Management believes that any costs associatedewitironmental risks or compliance with applicable@ieonmental laws or regulations to
which the Company may be subject would not haveterial adverse effect on the financial conditi@sults of operations or cash flows of
the Company.

A number of federal, state and local laws existhsas the Americans with Disabilities Act, whichymaquire modifications to existing
buildings to improve, or restrict certain renovaspby requiring access to such buildings by dedplersons. Additional legislation may
impose further requirements on owners with resfeatcess by disabled persons. The costs of conegliith such laws may be substantial
and may reduce overall returns of the Companyssiments. The Company believes that all of its @rtigs are in substantial compliance
with laws currently in effect, and will review ifsoperties, periodically, to determine continuirgnpliance with existing laws and any
additional laws that are hereafter promulgated.

(6) SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On April 29, 1996, the Company entered into an &grent and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreementth Wighwoods Properties, Inc
("Highwoods"). As a result of the Merger, the oatgting shares of common stock of the Company wikdnverted into the right to receive
$11.02 per share in cash, subject to certain adprsis. The Merger is conditioned upon, among dtiiags, approval by holders of at least
two-thirds of the outstanding Common Stock andcitretinued qualification of the Company as a retdtesnvestment trust. Holders of
approximately 83% of the Common Stock have entaredan agreement with Highwoods pursuant to wkieth holders have agreed to vote
in favor of the Merger.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors
Crocker Realty Trust, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying Historical Summ&@ross Income and Direct Operating Expensessfttical Summary") for certain
properties owned by Towermarc Corporation (the perbes") for the year ended December 31, 1995 Historical Summary is the
responsibility of the Properties' management. @aponsibility is to express an opinion on the Histd Summary based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with geneealbepted auditing standards. These standardseafat we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether gterldal Summary is free of material misstatemAntaudit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disesarthe Historical Summary. An audit also inckidesessing the basis of accounting |
and significant estimates made by management, bhasvevaluating the overall presentation of thstéfical Summary. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

The accompanying Historical Summary was prepareth®purpose of complying with the rules and ragahs of the Securities and
Exchange Commission for inclusion in the Registrattatement on Form S-11 of Crocker Realty Tastescribed in Note 1 and are not
intended to be a complete presentation of the Ptieperevenues and expenses.

In our opinion, the Historical Summary referrecatiove presents fairly, in all material respects,ghoss income and direct operating
expenses described in Note 1 of the Propertiethéoperiod ended December 31, 1995, in conformitly generally accepted accounting
principles.

(Signature of Ernst & Young LLP)

Boston, Massachusetts
February 26, 1996
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Historical Summary of Gross Income And Direct OpiegaExpenses For Certain Properties Owned by Tiaer Corporation

For the year ended December 31, 1 995
Gross Income

Rental Income $11,510,000

Other Income 208,000
11,718,000

Direct Operating Expenses

Rental Property Operating Expenses 2,919,000
Real Estate Taxes and Insurance 1,632,000

General and Administrative 82,000
4,633,000

Gross Income in excess of Direct Operating Expe
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Notes to Historical Summary of Gross Income ané&&iOperating Expens
1. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Signifiéen@ounting Policies:

The accompanying Historical Summary of Gross Incame Direct Operating Expenses (the "Historical Bwamy") relate to the three office
buildings and one parcel of land located in Tanfarida, one office building located in JacksoreilFlorida and five office buildings and

two parcels of land located in Memphis, Tennesseletively, the "Properties"), all owned and agded by Towermarc Corporation. The

office buildings aggregate approximately 680,00@able square feet. On January 16, 1996 CrockdtyRBaust Inc. acquired these proper
from Towermarc Corporation and from its subsidisa@d majority owned partnerships.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Historical Summary has been peejparaccordance with the applicable rules andlagigns of the Securities and
Exchange Commission for the acquisition of readtesbperations for inclusion in the Registratioat&nent on Form S-11 of the acquirer,
Crocker Realty Trust, Inc. Accordingly, certaintbigcal expenses which may not be comparable t@tipenses expected to be incurred ir
proposed future operations of the Properties haea lexcluded. Excluded expenses consist of deimetand amortization, interest expense
and certain professional and administrative costglimectly related to future operations.

Revenue and Expense Recognition

The accompanying Historical Summary has been peelpam the accrual basis of accounting. In accomlanth industry practice the
properties may provide certain rent concessiongadar tenants. These concessions generally takertimeof several months free or reduced
rent. Income from operating leases which providevéaying rents over the lease term is recognized straightine basis over the lease te
During the year ended December 31, 1995 a redutdioental income of approximately $335,000 wa®réed to recognize the property's
rental income on a straight line basis. Other ineancludes a $125,000 lease termination paymeptwed by the Properties in 1995.

The individual leases on these Properties are giynéor a term of at least three years and prowdteperating expense, a real estate tax
escalations and in certain cases for increasesnimum rent. Minimum future rentals under non-cdabke leases in effect at December 31,
1995, with terms greater than one year, under wihietProperties is the lessor, are summarizedllasvi

Year

1996 $10,943,000
1997 9,828,000
1998 8,275,000
1999 5,821,000
2000 3,771,000
Thereafter 5,638,000

$44,276,000
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Independent Auditors' Report

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Crocker Realty Investors, Inc.:

We have audited the financial statements of CroReslty Investors, Inc. as of December 31, 19941888, and the related statements of
operations, stockholders' equity and cash flowsgHeryears then ended. These financial statemesnth@ responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with geneaaltepted auditing standards. Those standardsedhat we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whethenmthedial statements are free of material misstaterdenaudit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and digeesn the financial statements. An audit alsoudek assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by managememtell as evaluating the overall financial statetpeesentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrealbove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Crocker Realty
Investors, Inc. at December 31, 1994 and 1993tlamdesults of its operations and its cash flowsHe years then ended in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles.

/'s/ KPMG PEAT MARW CK LLP

Fort Lauderdal e, Florida
February 3, 1995
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CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Balance Sheets
December 31, 1994 and 1993

Assets 1994 1993

Investment in real estate:

Rental properties, net of accumulated depr
$140,188 at December 31, 1994 and 1993, res

eciation of $1,336,366 and
pectively (notes

45

3,4 and 5) $ 46,390,687 15,796,247
Other assets:

Cash 653,623 24,579
Rents and expense reimbursements receivable, n et of allowance for

doubtful accounts of $10,240 at December 31 , 1994 (notes 3 and

4) 213,472 35,394
Deferred straight-line rents receivable (note 3) 328,923 74,185
Deposits, preacquisition and deferred merger c osts (notes 3, 5 and

9) 321,204 604,000
Deferred loan costs, net of accumulated amorti zation of $161,992

and $16,324 at December 31, 1994 and 1993, respectively (note 4)

804,508 355,621

Deferred leasing costs, net of accumulated amortization of $38,678 and

$2,887 at December 31, 1994 and 1993, respe ctively (notes 3

and 5) 539,247 59,498
Prepaid expenses 194,510 49,498
Organization costs, net of accumulated amortiz ation of $23,000 and

$19,020 at December 31, 1994 and 1993, resp ectively

34,500 46,000
Other assets 167,054 56,260
Total assets $ 49,647,728 17,101,282



CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equ

Liabilities:
Mortgage notes payable (note 4)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued interest expense (note 4)
Accrued deferred merger costs
Due to affiliates (note 5)
Rents paid in advance
Deferred straight-line rent payable (note 3)
Tenant security deposits
Other liabilities (note 4)

Total liabilities

Stockholders' equity (notes 2, 4, 6, 7 and 9):
Common stock, $.001 par value. Authorized 10,
issued and outstanding 1,020,000 shares at
and 1993
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders' equity
Commitments and contingencies (notes 3, 4, 5, 6, 7

Total liabilities and stockholders'

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Balance Sheets (Continued)

ity

000,000 shares;
December 31, 1994

and 9)

equity

46

1994

39,845,438
388,321
327,034
204,334
339,326
43,984
146,000
384,935
238,678

1,020
8,909,735
(1,181,077)

1993

7,911,062
131,628

140,268
50,536

149,754
4,477

1,020
8,909,735
(197,198)



CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Statements of Operations

For the years ended December 31, 1994 and 1993

1994 1993
Revenue (note 3):
Rental income $ 4,471,361 597,673
Common area maintenance reimbursement 2,613,357 256,541
Lease termination fee 100,000 -

7,184,718 854,214

Expenses:

Rental property operating expenses 2,229,056 351,279
Real estate taxes 706,583 86,924
Property management fees to related party (not eb)

345,610 36,374
Amortization of deferred leasing costs (note 5 )

38,802 2,887
Depreciation and amortization of rental proper ty

(note 3) 1,247,744 140,188

General and administrative expenses (notes 5 a nd 6)

639,430 432,431
Loss on tenant defaults 38,374 -

5,245,599 1,050,083

Operating income (loss) 1,939,119 (195,869)

Other income (expense):

Interest and other income 36,093 142,505
Interest and amortization and accretion of loa n
costs (note 4) (2,959,091) (143,834)
Total other income (expense) (2,922,998) (1,329)
Net loss $ (983,879) (197,198)
Net loss per share of common stock $ (0.96) (0.21)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 1,020,000 946,027

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Balance at December 31, 1992

Issuance of common stock and common stock purchase
at January 28, 1993 (note 2)

Issuance of common stock purchase warrants at
January 28, 1993 pursuant to employment
agreements (note 6)

Issuance of common stock purchase options at
January 28, 1993 (note 2)

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 1993

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 1994

CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.

Statements of Stockholders' Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 1994 and 1993

Additiona
Common Stock Paid-in
Shares Amount  Capital

20,000 $ 20 199,98

warrants
1,000,000 1,000 8,705,65
- - 4,00
- - 10
1,020,000 1,020  8,909,73
1,020,000 $ 1,020  8,909,73

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Total

Accumulated Stockholders'

Deficit

- 8

(197,198)

Equity

200,000

,706,655

4,000

100

(197,198)

(197,198

(983,879)

) 8,713,557

(983,879)

(1,181,077) 7,729,678




CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31, 1994 and 1993

1994 1993
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (983,879) (197,198)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of rental properties 1,247,744 140,188
Amortization and accretion of loan costs 390,869 16,324
Amortization of deferred leasing costs 38,802 2,887
Amortization of organization costs 11,500 19,020
Bad debt expense 14,535 -
Loss on tenant defaults 38,374 -
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:
Deferred straight-line rents receiva ble (261,216) (74,185)
Rents and expense reimbursements rec eivables (189,059) (35,394)
Deferred leasing costs (524,920) (62,385)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (255,806) (105,758)
Increase (decrease) in operating liabili ties:
Accounts payable and accrued expense S 96,993 (58,196)
Accrued interest expense 327,034 -
Accrued deferred merger costs 204,334 -
Rents paid in advance (33,060) (60,231)
Tenant security deposits (21,944) 24,888
Deferred straight-line rent payable 146,000 -
Due to affiliates, net 222,038 -
Total adjustments 1,452,218 (192,842)
Net cash provided by (used in) op erating activities 468,339 (390,040)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of rental properties (29,735,895) (15,085,967)
Payments for building and tenant improvements (1,615,017) (420,534)
Purchase of securities held for sale - (5,085,546)
Proceeds from sales of securities held for sal e - 5,085,546
Payment of deposits, pre-acquisition and defer red merger costs
(1,217,204) (604,000)
Refund of deposits 1,500,000 -
Net cash used in investing activ ities (31,068,116) (16,110,501)
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CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.

Statements of Cash Flows, Continued

1994 1993
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, warran ts and options, net of
$1,127,428 deducted for underwriting costs $ - 9,106,672
Proceeds from borrowing under mortgage notes p ayable 31,934,376 7,911,062
Offering costs - (262,477)
Loan fees (605,555) (371,945)
Due to affiliates, net (100,000) 84,043
Net cash provided by financing ac tivities 31,228,821 16,467,355
Net increase (decrease) in cash 629,044 (33,186)
Cash at beginning of period 24,579 57,765
Cash at end of period $ 653,623 24,579
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for:
Interest $ 2,241,188 123,033

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing amehfiing activities:

The Company acquired certain rental propertiesprilA994, October 1993 and June 1993. Assetsiahiiies assumed in conjunction with
these acquisitions were as follows:

1994 19 93
Land $ 4,800,000 3, 154,604
Building and improvements 25,379,228 12, 361,297
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (159,700) ( 194,301)
Rents paid in advance (26,508) ( 110,767)
Security deposits (257,125) ( 124,866)
Net cash used in acquisition of real esta te $ 29,735,895 15, 085,967

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 1994 and 1993
(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Organization

Crocker Realty Investors, Inc. ("CRI") was formedaaDelaware corporation on September 30, 1992thtlintent of qualifying as a real
estate investment trust ("REIT") for Federal incampepurposes. On December 31, 1992, Crocker AitguisCompany, Inc. ("CAC"), a
Florida corporation, was incorporated by the twé&ts§hareholders of CRI. CAC had an authorized chgtibek consisting of 10,000,000
shares of common stock with a par value of $.00Xspare. At the formation of CAC, each of the 50f%reholders of CRI received one share
of the common stock of CAC. On December 31, 1992, Was merged into CAC with each of the 50% shdde of CRI receiving 9,999
shares of CAC common stock in exchange for eathedf 10,000 shares of CRI common stock, at whitle tCRI ceased to exist.
Simultaneously with the merger, CAC changed its @émnCrocker Realty Investors, Inc. (the "Companyt)e Company was organized to
acquire equity interests in office buildings, refacilities or mixed-use facilities located in thentinental United States, primarily in South
Florida. The Company currently owns and operatesethental properties located in Boca Raton, Féorithe Company had no significant
financial operations in 1992.

(b) Rental Property

Rental properties are carried at cost, which ismekcess of each property's estimated net rdd¢izasmlue. Cost includes all costs directly
related to the acquisition of each property, incigdegal fees and commissions, and all costs dfimgamprovements to the acquired
properties. Depreciation on the building and imements is computed using the straight-line methed estimated useful lives.
Amortization of tenant improvements is computedhgghe straight-line method over the initial letesens of the respective leases. Repairs
and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred.

(c) Offering Costs

Offering costs are comprised of legal, accountpripting, discounts, commissions and other costsrited in connection with the offering of
securities. These costs totaling $1,523,345 weaegeltl to shareholders' equity upon consummatidheobffering on January 28, 1993.

(d) Deferred Costs

Deferred loan costs incurred in connection witlafioing are amortized using the interest method theeterm of the loan. Deferred leasing
costs are comprised primarily of leasing commissiand are amortized on a straight-line basis dweirtitial term of the respective leases.
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CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
(e) Organizational Costs
Organization costs are amortized using the strdigbtmethod over five years.
(f) Revenue Recognition

Rental income adjusted for concessions and fixedlasons is recognized for financial reportinggmses on a straight-line basis over the
initial term of each lease. Deferred rent on eaels¢ is recognized for the difference between Iretdame calculated on the straight-line
basis and the rental payments actually require@wiine terms of each lease. Any such amounts deancadlectible are reserved in the
period such a determination is made.

(9) Net Loss Per Share of Common Stock

Net loss per share of common stock is computed\igiidg the net loss by the weighted average nunobshares of common sto
outstanding during the period. Stock option andraras had no effect on the calculation as thegatfis antidilutive.

(h) Income Taxes

The Company qualifies as a real estate investresittREIT" under the provisions of the InternaMBeue Code. Under these provisions, the
Company is required to distribute at least 95%ofaxable income to its shareholders to maintamdualification and not be subject to
federal income taxes for the portion of taxableome distributed. The Company did not have taxaiderne during 1994 or 1993. To
maintain REIT qualification, the Company must astisfy tests concerning the nature of its assetsrecome and meet certain recordkee
requirements.

The estimated tax loss for the year ended Dece8thet994 is approximately $1.8 million and was $800 for the year ended December
1993. The difference between net loss for finan@pbrting purposes and tax loss is primarily duthe recognition of rental income on a
straight-line basis for financial reporting purpesad differences in depreciable lives of the lgmaperties and improvements thereto. The
differences between the tax basis and the repartealints of assets and liabilities is immaterial.

() Reclassifications
The 1993 financial statements have been recladgidieonform to the current period presentation.
(2) Public Offering

The Company sold through a public offering, whiciisveonsummated on January 28, 1993, 1,000,000sshia@»mmon Stock at an offering
price of $10 per share and 2,300,000 Warrantgata of $.10 per Warrant. Until the completiortio¢ offering, the shares of the Common
Stock and the Warrants could only be purchasedliegen the basis of one share of Common StockwoadVarrants (except for the
Underwriter's option to purchase
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CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

up to 150,000 shares of Common Stock and/or 300/880ants, solely for the purpose of covering alestments). The Underwriter
exercised only its option to purchase 300,000 WhasteEach Warrant entitles the holder to purchdseng the four-year period commencing
one year after the date of the offering, one sb&@ommon Stock at $10.00 per share. Each Warambe exercised only if a registration
statement covering the shares of Common Stockhb$sugon exercise of the Warrant is current atithe of exercise and such shares of
Common Stock have been registered or are qualifietr Federal and state law or there is an exemfition such registration or
qualification requirements. The Underwriter receiam underwriting discount equal to $716,100 aradsid received (1) an expense allowe
on a nonaccountable basis equal to $306,900, (2) reimbwsefor bona fide due diligence expenses of $51,(H0options (at the aggreg:
purchase price of $100) to purchase 100,000 sled@smmon Stock at an initial exercise price of $D6per share, subject to adjustment to
prevent dilution, for the four-year period commercone year from the date of the offering, (4) lmimsement of certain advertising and
mailing costs of $28,003, and (5) reimbursemerdtbér costs equal to $25,375. The Underwriter aldb receive in certain circumstances a
Warrant solicitation fee equal to 5% of the exaerqisice for each Warrant exercised.

(3) Rental Property

In 1994 and 1993, the Company purchased officallmgis and associated land located in Boca Ratanidiel, as follows:

Crocker Fina ncial
One B oca Place Crocker Square Plaza
Date acquired April 27,1994 October 14, 1993 June 28, 1 993
Land $ 4,800,000 2,184,604 970, 000
Building and improvements 2 5,379,228 8,600,000 3,761, 297
$3 0,179,228 10,784,604 4,731, 297
Components of rental properties are summarized|bs\s:
December 31, Estimated
19 94 1993 Useful Lives
Land $ 7, 954,604 3,154,604 -
Buildings 35, 852,213 11,652,119 40 years
Parking lots 430,000 430,000 15years
Building improvements 368,971 10,363  10years
Tenant improvements 3, 082,909 475,539 Life of lease
Equipment 4,702 - 3 years
Construction in progress 33,654 213,810 -
47, 727,053 15,936,435
Accumulated depreciation (1, 336,366) (140,188)
$ 46, 390,687 15,796,247
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CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
All rental properties are pledged as security fier Company's mortgage notes payable (See note 4).

Space in the properties are leased to tenants amolah-to-month leases as well as operating leaghsnitial terms ranging from two to
twenty years. Leases provide for base rent plusleisement of certain operating expenses.

Commitments to complete improvements on rental gntigs as they are occupied totals approximatebA£®0 at December 31, 1994.

Future minimum rentals, excluding tenant reimbursets of operating expenses, under noncancelabtatopeleases as of December 31,
1994 are:

Year ending December 31:

1995 $ 5,355,000
1996 4,539,000
1997 3,377,000
1998 3,115,000
1999 2,340,000
Thereafter 3,967,000
Total future m inimum
rentals $ 22,693,000

(4) Mortgage Notes Payable

Mortgage notes payable consists of the following:

December 31,

1994 1993
Mortgage note payable to General Electric Ca pital Corporation
("GECC"), as modified, with monthly payments of interest at GECC's
Composite Commercial Paper Rate plus 4.00% (9.34% and 7.19% at
December 31, 1994 and 1993, respectively) wit h all principal due
on April 27, 1999 and secured by all three of t he Company's rental
properties as well as an assignment of rents and other items at
the properties
$ 9,345,438 7,911,0 62
Mortgage note payable to GECC with monthly payme nts of interest at
GECC's Composite Commercial Paper Rate plu s 4.25% (9.59% at
December 31, 1994) with a maturity date of April 27, 1999 and
secured by all three of the Company's rental pr operties as well as
an assignment of rents and other items at the p roperties
30,500,000 -
$ 39,845,438 7,911,0 62
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CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

On October 13, 1993, the Company entered into 28520000 credit facility with GECC. This facilityas modified on April 27, 1994, whic
among other changes, included an increase in gkt dacility to $11,564,500. $9,345,438 has be#wveaced as of December 31, 1994 and
was used to finance the acquisition of the Cro&8arare property acquired as described in notedBt@fund certain renovations and tenant
improvements to Crocker Square and Crocker FinbRtéaa, as well as to fund $242,763 in loan clpsiosts, and set up a $258,925 escrow
for real estate taxes. The remaining undisbursedswvill be advanced for specified purposes inciggiayment for certain additional
renovations, tenant improvements, leasing coststlapayment of a $114,500 additional interestwarhavhich is due upon any prepayment
of the loan, or at the loan's maturity date (whetheacceleration or otherwise). The $114,500 belck will only be funded in the event of a
default by the Company. The additional interest antds being accrued using the interest method theelife of the loan and is included in
other liabilities on the balance sheet.

The mortgage note payable may be prepaid in whalenot in part, without penalty, at any time afril 27, 1995. Prior to that date, a
prepayment fee equal to 5% of the outstanding jpaidalance will be charged in addition to theitiddal interest amount.

On April 27, 1994, the Company purchased the OneaBtace property as described in note 3. The Coynfiganced the entire purchase
price with a $32.1 million loan from GECC. $30.5llinh was received at closing and $1.6 million bagn held back by GECC to fund the
$1.6 million additional interest amount which isedupon prepayment of the loan, or at the loan'sintaidate (whether by acceleration or
otherwise). The $1.6 million held back will only hended in the event of a default by the Comparhe additional interest amount is being
accrued using the interest method over the lifdnefloan and is included in other liabilities irethalance sheet. In addition to financing the
acquisition, the $30.5 million received was usetutal $489,787 of the $554,787 in loan closing €oahd set up a $259,084 escrow for real
estate taxes. The proceeds of the loan were aézbtagepay the $1.1 million outstanding princigadount due under a loan made by Crocker
& Sons, Inc., an affiliate of Thomas J. Crockercamnection with deposits made on the purchase pfithe property. The outstanding
principal balance of the loan is payable in an amegual to 50% of the annual cash flow generajetth® property after payment of interest
on the loan, and tenant improvements and expenslas property, for each calendar year subseqoel®95. This payment is limited to a
maximum amount of $750,000 per year. All remainingaid principal is payable at maturity on April, 2ZB99.

The mortgage note payable may be prepaid in whoie part, without penalty, with a requirement thatinitial prepayment be not less than
$12 million. Upon an initial prepayment, the addlil interest amount may be accelerated at GE@Eption.

In connection with the $32.1 million loan, the Caanp issued to GECC a warrant to purchase 160,08@slof the common stock of the
Company at an exercise price of $10.00 per shabgest to adjustment (the "Warrant"). Upon any psepent of the loan, or at the loan's
maturity (whether by acceleration or otherwise) G&Ewill, at its option, be entitled to exercise iMarrant by waiving the Company's
obligation to pay the $1.6 million additional inést amount. If the issuance of the 160,000 shaoeddrcause GECC to own in excess of
9.8% of the outstanding common stock of the ComptieyCompany would then issue only a number ofeshaqual to 9.8% of the
outstanding common stock of the Company (giving@ffo such issuance), and pay to GECC an amouat &mthe current market price
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CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

of the Company's common stock, as defined, mutiipbly an amount equal to the excess of 160,00@sloaer the actual number of shares
issued.

(5) Related Party Transactions

On January 21, 1993, the Company entered into yeaeproperty management agreement with CrockeltyRElanagement Services, Inc.
("CRMS"), an affiliate of Thomas J. Crocker, Chaammand a stockholder of the Company. CRMS alsoascexclusive leasing agent and
construction manager. CRMS is paid 5% of aggregaiss revenue for each year for its property mamage services; 6% of aggregate fixed
annual rental of each lease procured by CRMS fitht five years of a lease term and 4% for teetfive years for each new lease and
lesser amounts for renewals; and 8% of tenant ivgment and other construction costs incurred byCthmpany for construction
management services. In addition, CRMS will be keirsed for all out-of-pocket expenses paid to thadies in connection with the
rendition of services and all salaries and oth@eases of on-site personnel and the allocableguodti salaries, other compensation and
overhead of personnel employed by the manager wHonm any portion of services contemplated underagreement. CRMS is responsi
for any co-broker leasing commissions. The agre¢iseautomatically extended for successive one gesnds unless terminated by either
party upon written notice at least 90 days priath®expiration date. In management's opinion etliess are at rates not less favorable to the
Company than that available from unaffiliated thpatties.

The Company has also retained affiliates of Thodn&rocker to provide administrative support sexsinecessary for the day-to-day
operations of the Company. The Company reimbunsels affiliates for:

(a) the actual cost to the affiliates for goodstarials and services used for and by the Compataired from unaffiliated parties, (b)
administrative services necessary to the operatidhe Company, including secretarial, bookkeeptaa processing and other office
services, and (c) the services of certain persantileded by the Company directly involved in theganization and business of the Company,
including persons who may be employees or officétbe affiliates but not executive officers of t@empany. The Company's offices have
been provided free of charge by Crocker & Sons, bt affiliate of Thomas J. Crocker. In the fufulee Company may be required to pay
rent to such affiliate, at a rate not less favagdblthe Company than that available from unatélibthird parties. On October 1, 1994, Cro«
and Sons, Inc. began allocating payroll costs éoGbmpany in accordance with item (c) above, atidccamtinue to allocate these costs on an
ongoing basis.
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The amounts earned by affiliated companies foy#ars ended December 31, 1994 and 1993 and aninahuged in due to affiliates at
December 31, 1994 and 1993 are summarized as fllow

Earned during year en ded Due to affiliates at
December 31, December 31,
1994 1993 1994 1993 Description
Crocker Realty
Management
Services, Inc. $ 345,610 36,3 74 50,608 15,467 Property management
122,697 22,5 69 42,771 19,701 Construction manage ment
486,521 2,3 70 129,763 - Leasing commissions
Crocker & Sons, Inc. N/A N 1A - 100,000 Purchase deposit
N/A N /A - 5,100 Out-of-pocket expen ses
Building and tenant
N/A N 1A 44,020 - improvements
28,014 - - - Interest and loan f ees
72,164 - 72,164 - Payroll allocations
$ 1,055,006 61,3 13 339,326 140,268

As discussed in note 4, Crocker & Sons, Inc. predifi1,100,000 for deposits made towards the pueobiaa rental property acquired on
April 27, 1994. This loan was repaid after the asitjon, including interest and loan fees.

(6) Employment Agreements

On the effective date of the public offering, thentpany entered into five-year employment agreemaittsThomas J. Crocker, who serves
as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offiaad Richard S. Ackerman, who serves as Presifash of the officers are paid a base
annual salary of $25,000 and are entitled to ingerdompensation in an amount (not to exceed $0B0@r each in any fiscal year) equal 1
percentage of the amount of total dividends diated to stockholders during each fiscal year of@benpany if such dividends equal at least
9% of stockholders' invested capital. Such peregntanges between 3.5% and 9.5%, increasing gifpdurdil the highest percentage is
reached when annual dividends distributed areaat 4% of stockholders' invested capital. The amofidividends to be distributed to
stockholders will be determined by a majority of thisinterested directors (including a majoritythed independent directors). Upon
termination of Mr. Crocker's employment by the Camp, the Company must cease to conduct business ondse the "Crocker" name, ¢
any derivative thereof, and the logo associatel Wit. Crocker's affiliates.

Upon consummation of the offering, the employmanttacts also obligated the Company: (a) to granhef two executive officers options
to purchase 75,000 shares of the Common Stock, exercise price of $10.00 per share, pursuafitg@obmpany's 1993 Stock Option Plan
described further in note 7, and (b) to sell toheaictwo executive officers, at a purchase pric&.4D per Warrant, Warrants to purchase
20,000 shares of the Common
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Stock at an exercise price of $10.00 per sharecesedale during the four-year period commencing yeer after the effective date of the
offering. On January 28, 1993, the officers purelathe Warrants for an aggregate purchase prié,000. On February 24, 1993, the
Company granted stock options to the executiveerf§ as described further in note 7.

(7) Stock Options

In 1993, the Company established a key employexk stption plan reserving 250,000 shares of commacksor sale to key employees at an
option price that shall not be less than fair maviedue at the time the option is granted. Theansiwill expire not more than ten years from
the date of the grant. Pursuant to employment aotsty on February 24, 1993, the Company granteghton to purchase up to 75,000 shares
of the Common Stock to each of two executive officnd an option to purchase up to 10,000 sharded@ommon Stock to the Treasurer.
On November 19, 1993, the Board of Directors grdiate option to purchase up to 45,000 shares of emmstock to each of the two
executive officers. All options are exercisabl&&D.00 per share as follows: (i) for one-thirdlof shares covered thereby after the first
anniversary of the date of grant; (ii) for an aubtil one-third of the shares covered thereby d#fteisecond anniversary, and (iii) for the
balance after the third anniversary. On Januani 283, the Company also granted an option to pgrchf0,000 shares of Common Stock at
$16.50 per share to the Underwriter as describedie 2. As a result of the Company issuing WagrgmtGECC as described in note 4, the
Underwriter's option exercise price and the nunatbeshares underlying the option have been adjustadcordance with provisions of the
option to $7.85 per share and 210,292 shares, atasgly.

(8) Condensed Pro Forma Financial Information

On April 27, 1994, the Company purchased One BdaeeFor $30,179,228 paid for with cash from pratsffom a mortgage note payable.
On October 14, 1993, the Company purchased Cr&ipeare for $10,784,604 paid for with cash from peats of the offering and proceeds
from a mortgage note payable. On June 28, 1993 ¢imepany purchased Crocker Financial Plaza for3842B7 paid in cash from proceeds
of the offering.

The following unaudited pro forma summary preséimscondensed results of operations as if the &@@disition and 1993 acquisitions and
initial public offering had occurred as of Janu&ri993, and does not purport to be indicative lodtwould have occurred had the

58



CROCKER REALTY INVESTORS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements

1994 acquisition and 1993 acquisitions and infiigblic offering actually occurred as of January993, or of results which may occur in the
future.

Year ended December 31,
" 1o94 19 3
(Ur-1-a-1;Jdited) - (Unau aited)
Revenues $ 8,670,000 7,2 40,000
Netloss s (1360000 (L1 50,000)
Net loss per common share $ ___(I._?:?;;“ o _(1_1_3_)_
Weighted average number of common shares outstand ing 1,020,000 1,0 5(_)_0_02)“

(9) Proposed Merger

On September 29, 1994, the Company and SoutheakyRmrp., a newly formed Maryland corporationtezad into an agreement (the
"Merger Agreement”) pursuant to which, among othamsactions, the Company will be merged into allyfmwned subsidiary of Southeast
Realty Corp. (the "Merger"). Upon the effectivenetthe Merger, Southeast Realty Corp. will owngBOperties. Contemporaneously with
the Merger, Crocker Realty Management Services,dnd Crocker & Sons, Inc., companies which argrotied by Thomas J. Crocker, will
be merged with a subsidiary of Southeast Realty CEine Merger Agreement provided for a due diligeperiod which expired on October
30, 1994. The consummation of the Merger is sultgearious conditions, including, among other dtiads, the approval of a majority of
the outstanding shares of the Company, the reptasmms and warranties of the parties shall be ateln all material respects, no
governmental entity or Federal or State court diealle issued any injunction or other order whidiregns or prohibits the consummation of
the Merger, all authorizations, waivers and corseaquired to be obtained in order to consummatéérger shall have been obtained, and
the number of shareholders dissenting to the Meslgall not exceed a specified number. The Mergee@&ment may be terminated at any
time by the mutual written consent of the partiesmon the occurrence of certain events. If thegdeis not consummated, the parties will
not have liability to each other unless such failtor consummate is a result of a willful misrepréaton or breach of warranty or covenant
contained in the Merger Agreement. The amount ofatges recoverable by the non-breaching party isdim

As of December 31, 1994, the Company has incumstsaelated to the Merger of approximately $310, 0@t of reimbursements received
from an affiliate of the proposed merger entityapproximately $147,000. Upon consummation of thegdeAgreement, all deferred merger
costs will be expensed. Under certain circumstgrntése Merger does not take place, the Compariybgirequired to repay the $147,000 in
the form of shares of the Company's common stoskdapon the lesser of the stock's trading pricékhemate of termination or $8.00 per
share.

Upon consummation of the Merger Agreement, the eympent agreements and stock options describedt@s foand 7, respectively, will be
terminated, and new employment agreements and sfaigkn plans will be implemented by the new entity
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Independent Auditors' Report

The Stockholder
Crocker & Sons, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying balance sheabokér & Sons, Inc. as of December 31, 1994, aaddlated statements of operations,
stockholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows foe year then ended. These financial statementharesponsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on out. aud

We conducted our audit in accordance with generadbepted auditing standards. Those standardsedtyat we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whethenmthedial statements are free of material misstaterdenaudit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and digeesn the financial statements. An audit alsoudek assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by managememtell as evaluating the overall financial statetpeesentation. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Crocker & Sons, Inc.
as of December 31, 1994, and the results of itsadipas and its cash flows for the year then endednformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

/sl KPMG Peat Marwi ck LLP

Fort Lauderdal e, Florida
February 23, 1995
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Assets

Current assets:
Cash
Management fees receivable (note 4)
Development fee receivable from affiliate of s

Reimbursable costs (note 7)

Due from employees and stockholder

Due from affiliates of stockholder, net (note
Prepaid insurance

Total current assets

Property and equipment (note 3)
Less accumulated depreciation

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equi
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities
Stockholders' equity (notes 6 and 7):
Common stock, $1 par value. Authorized, issue
7,500 shares
Additional paid-in capital
Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholder

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

CROCKER & SONS, INC.
Balance Sheet

December 31, 1994

tockholder (note 4)

4)

ty

d and outstanding

s' equity
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CROCKER & SONS, INC.
Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 31, 1994

Revenues (note 4):
Management fees - buildings:

Related parties $ 695,21
Unrelated party 217,77
Management fees - development and construction
Related parties 315,65
Other:
Related parties 177,24
Unrelated party 19,94
Total revenues 1,425,83
Expenses:
Payroll and related costs 2,147,36
General and administrative (note 4) 309,94
Depreciation 29,07
Professional fees 103,74
Communications 66,59
Less: Allocation of costs to affiliate relate d to management
activities (note 4) (72,16
Less: Allocation of costs to affiliate relate d to leasing and
building management activities (note 4) (811,20
Total expenses 1,773,35
Operating loss (347,52
Other income:
Interest income 69,69
Sales commission (note 4) 1,157,43
Miscellaneous income 215,24
Total other income 1,442,37
Net income $ 1,094,85
Pro forma data (unaudited - see notes 2 and 5):
Historical net income 1,094,85
Provision for pro forma income taxes 104,48
Pro forma net income $ 990,36
Pro forma net income per common share $ 465.62
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 2,12

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Common
Shares

Balance at December 31, 1993
100

Issuance of stock to
majority stockholder 4,994

Proceeds from issuance of
stock to officers
2,406

Distribution to majority
stockholder -

Net income -

7,500

CROCKER & SONS, INC.

Statement of Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

For the year ended December 31, 1994

Additional
Stock Paid-in Accumulated
Amount Capital Deficit
$ 100 1,050,992 (1,065,375)
4,994 (4,994) -
2,406 255,594 -
- (972,204) (29,478)
- - 1,094,853
$ 7,500 329,388 -

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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(14,283)

258,000

(1,001,682)
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CROCKER & SONS, INC.

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 1994

Cash flow from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cas h provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation
(Increase) decrease in operating assets:
Management fees receivable
Development fee receivable
Reimbursable costs
Due from employees and stockholder
Prepaid insurance
Utility deposits
Increase (decrease) in operating liabili ties:
Accounts payable and accrued expense S
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes
Other liabilities

Total adjustments
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing acti vities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Due to/from affiliates of stockholder, net

Proceeds from issuance of stock
Distribution to majority stockholder

Net cash used in financing acti vities

Net decrease in cash
Cash at beginning of year

Cash at end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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$ 1,094,85

29,07

(17,40
(63,00
(88,39
9,40
9,67
81,25

12,96
(3,99
(94

(31,35

1,063,49

(292,99
258,00
(1,001,68

2)

2)

1)

2)

3)

8)

[



CROCKER & SONS, INC.
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 1994
(1) Business

Crocker & Sons, Inc. (the "Company") is a real estaanagement company that provides sales promai@rations, administration,
accounting and collection services. Prior to Sepemn22, 1994, Thomas J. Crocker was the Compaolgsssockholder. As of December 31,
1994, Mr. Crocker is the majority stockholder (se¢e 6 below).

The Company was formed in 1989 when Thomas J. @rqukrchased the assets of WJC & Sons, Inc.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Revenue Recognition

Management fee revenue is recognized when earrextordance with the terms of each respective neamagt agreement.
(b) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreniaf property and equipment has been providetherstraight-line method based upon
estimated useful lives as follows:

Equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Automobiles 5 years

(c) Income Taxes

The Company is a subchapter "S" corporation. Af siihe stockholder is personally responsible forianome tax expense on the Compa
taxable income. Accordingly, the statements domdude any provision for income taxes which arm thsponsibility of the stockholder.

(d) Pro Forma Income Tax Provision

Under the terms of a proposed merger, the leagirgations of Crocker & Sons, Inc. will be transéerto an entity which is expected to be
taxable as a C Corporation under the Internal Rex€ode. The remaining operations will be mergéal dnsubsidiary of a proposed real
estate investment trust, which is expected to fuat such under the Internal Revenue Code andihlusot be subject to Federal income
to the extent it distributes all of its taxableante to shareholders and meets certain other reneirss.

The pro forma tax provision has been calculateiflthe leasing operations of Crocker & Sons, Irre. part of a separate wholly-owned entity
which is subject to taxation as a C CorporatiorcHSpresentation included the assumption that taxaéi operating losses of the leasing
operations would be carried forward to offset tdgabcome generated through December 31, 1994.
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The pro forma net income per share is based oawbge number of common shares outstanding asishaive Statement of Operations.
(3) Property and Equipment

A summary of property and equipment as of Decer3thed 994 is as follows:

Equipment $ 351,733
Furniture and fixtures 70,241
Automobiles 6,821

$ 428,795

(4) Related Party and Significant Customer Trarngast

Substantially all of the Company's managementdgenue is earned from properties owned by or affiti with Thomas J. Crocker or his
father, from the development, construction and rgangent of a property known as Mizner Park, in wiitlomas J. Crocker has a minority
ownership interest and which is majority-owned Badhers Insurance and Annuity, from the developmedtmanagement of a property
known as the Arbors Office Park, in which Thoma€khcker has a minority ownership interest and Wiliscmajorityowned by an affiliate ¢
The State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio, riamd the management of other properties owned bghera Insurance and Annuity.

Building management fees generally range from 1%#toof gross receipts collected by the propertpdp@nanaged. Development
management fees are generally an agreed-upon anvihrihe property owner. Construction managemeaes fare generally 8% of the total
job cost.

At the end of 1991, Crocker Realty Management $esyilnc. ("CRMSI"), an affiliate of the stockhotde/as established to act as the leasing
agent for properties managed by the Company. CRMSIno employees and the Company allocates coSiRRMSI for the use of its
personnel and services in connection with thessrigaactivities. The Company also allocates casSRMSI related to building managem:

of buildings owned by Crocker Realty Investors,. [fibe allocation of costs is based on revenuesddigp CRMSI.
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The Company had transactions with related partidssagnificant building owners as follows:

R elated Party
------------------------------------- Teachers

Mi zner Arbors Insurance
Affiliates P ark Office Park Total and Annuity

Year ended December 31, 1994:

Building management fees $ 260,251 312 ,030 122,933 695,214 217,774
Development and construc-

tion management fees - 226 ,382 89,269 315,651 -
Other 5,645 28 ,195 143,405 177,245 19,949
As of December 31, 1994:

Management fee receivable 74,803 36 624 - 111,427 2,539
Development fee receivable - 63 ,000 - 63,000

Net due to/from affiliates

of stockholder 45,881 - - 45,881

On February 17, 1994, the Company received a cosmoni®f $1,157,437 for the sale of two buildingsned by The State Teachers
Retirement System of Ohio which were managed byCibmpany prior to the sale. Building, developmert aonstruction management fee
revenue from these buildings for the year endeceBiber 31, 1994 totaled approximately $34,000.

On May 16, 1994, the Company ceased managing $éneldings owned by Teachers Insurance and Anreotytaining a total of
approximately 606,000 rentable square feet. Buijlditevelopment and construction management fe@muevand allocation of costs relatec
leasing activities earned from these buildingstiieryear ended December 31, 1994, totaled apprésiyr321,000.

On March 9, 1994, the Company began managing dibgitontaining approximately 315,000 rentable sgdieet, owned by an affiliate of
the stockholder. On April 27, 1994, the Companyaegllocating costs to Crocker Realty Managementi&ss, Inc., which began managing
a building containing approximately 280,000 rengadijuare feet, which is owned by a company in witiehstockholder is an officer.
Building management fee revenue and allocatiorosfscrelated to leasing and building managemenities from these buildings totaled
approximately $427,000 for the year ended Decer@bet 994.

Starting on October 1, 1994, the Company begawatilog certain payroll costs to Crocker Realty ktees Inc. ("CRI") relating to services
certain personnel utilized by CRI directly involviedthe organization and business of CRI, excludirgcutive officers of CRI.
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(5) Pro Forma Income Taxes

The pro forma income tax expense attributable tniegs from the leasing operations, as describewta 2(d), for the year ended December
31, 1994 differs from the amounts computed by applyhe U.S. Federal tax rate of 34 percent tofpnma pretax earnings from the leasing
operations as a result of the following:

Computed "expected" tax expense for the Company $372,250

Effect of assumed 100% distribution of real estate
investment trust taxable income, for the non-
leasing operations of the Company, to its
shareholders (5,157)

State income taxes, net of Federal income tax benef it 39,193

Benefit of operating loss carry-forwards of the
leasing operations (301,798)

Pro forma income tax expense $ 104,488

The pro forma income tax calculated above was pegpia accordance with Statement of Financial Actimg Standards No. 109,
"Accounting for Income Taxes."

(6) Stockholders' Equity

On September 22, 1994, the Company issued 7,400ssbhstock. 4,994 of these shares were issu€tldmas J. Crocker with no
corresponding contribution. Additional paid-in dapiof $4,994 representing the par value of theroom stock was transferred to the
common stock account. The remaining 2,406 shares issued to two officers of the Company in excleafoy $258,000.

Prior to the issuance of the above-mentioned sladrstock, the Company paid a stockholder distrisuto Thomas J. Crocker of $1,001,682
or approximately $10,017 per share.

(7) Proposed Merger

On September 29, 1994, the Company and Southeally Rmrp., a newly formed Maryland corporationqUheast Realty"), entered into an
agreement (the "Merger Agreement") pursuant to lyhamong other transactions, the Company and Crévéalty Management Services,
Inc. ("CRMSI") will be merged into a wholly-ownedlssidiary of Southeast Realty. Upon consummatiath@Merger, the shareholders of
the Company and CRMSI will receive, in the aggregé87,500 shares of Southeast Realty's commok, sexresenting approximately 4.5%
of the outstanding shares of Southeast Realty'sremmstock. The consummation of the Merger is sulgeearious conditions including, the
satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to consuation of a merger (“the CRI Merger") of Crocker Rg#vestors, Inc. ("CRI") with and
into a wholly-owned subsidiary of Southeast
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Realty, pursuant to a merger agreement betweera@iREoutheast Realty. The CRI Merger requires ppecaal of the holders of a majority
of the outstanding shares of Crocker Realty Inwsstac. Upon consummation of the mergers, Soutteealty will own interests in 50 offic

properties.

The Merger Agreement provides for Southeast Réaltgimburse the Company for all expenses and cbskee Company, in assuming the
management and accounting of the 50 propertiesshndrie incurred prior to the closing date of thegae Subsequent to December 31, 1¢
the Company was reimbursed $88,390 of such costsred during the year ended December 31, 1994. dthbunt has been reflected in

these financial statements as reimbursable cosiEscember 31, 1994.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINING BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDI TED)

MARCH 31, 1996
(IN THOUSANDS)

CROCKER EAKIN & SMITH PRO FORMA
HISTORICAL (A) REALTY TRUST (B) TRANSACTION ADJUSTMENTS PRO FORMA
ASSETS
Real estate assets, Net............cc......... $602,276 $376,039 $91,911(c) $ 155,299(g) $1,225,525
Cash and cash equivalents... 8,383 17,742 26,125
Accounts and notes receivables.. 7,861 1,557 9,418
Accrued straight line rent receivable......... 3,807 3,461 7,268
Other assets..........ccoccovviiiniinnnns 10,317 14,635 (5,131)(h) 19,821
$632,644 $413,434 $91,911 $150,168 $1,288,157
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Mortgages and notes payable................... $196,718 $239,502 $63,680(d) 308,831(i) $ 808,731
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and
9,977 15,269 25,246

Total liabilities.... 206,695 254,771 63,680 308,831 833,977
Minority interest. 73,440 14,772(e) 88,212
Stockholders' equity:

CommOoN StOCK.........coevverieiiiriiiens 194 270 5(f) (270)(j) 199

Additional paid in capital.. 355,248 158,393 13,454(f) (158,393)(j) 368,702

Distributions in excess of net earnings..... (2,933) (2,933)
Total stockholders' equity................... 352,509 158,663 13,459 (158,663) 365,968

$632,644 $413,434 $91,911 $150,168 $1,288,157
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINING BALANCE SHEE T (UNAUDITED)
MARCH 31, 1996
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed inimgtbalance sheet is presented as if the follgwiansactions had been
consummated on March 31, 1996: (a) the completidgheoEakin & Smith Transaction and (b) the comiplebf the proposed Crocker Realty
Trust stock purchase and merger (the "Crocker hetitn").

The acquisitions have been or will be accountedifimg the purchase method of accounting. Accotdiragsets acquired and liabilities
assumed have been or will be recorded at themasgtid fair values which may be subject to furteéinement, including appraisals and other
analyses. Management does not expect that thediloahtion of the purchase prices for the abovpisitions will differ materially from the
preliminary allocations.

This unaudited pro forma condensed combining bal@aheet should be read in conjunction with thefpnma condensed combining
statement of operations of the Company, the coesiald financial statements and related notes a€tmpany included in its Annual Report
on Form 10-K, the unaudited financial statementsratated notes of the Company included in its @uirReport on Form 10-Q, and the
financial statements and related notes of the aedyiroperties.

The pro forma condensed combining balance sheetaisdited and is not necessarily indicative of whatactual financial position would
have been had the aforementioned transactionsligadeaurred on March 31, 1996 nor does it purpontepresent the future financial
position of the Company.

2. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSEDOMBINING BALANCE SHEET

(a.) Represents the Company's historical balaneetslontained in the Company's Quarterly Repoffam 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 1996.

(b.) Represents the historical balance sheet ofk@roRealty Trust as of March 31, 1996.

(c.) Represents the initial purchase price of $80,800 for the seven in-service suburban offic@ertes totaling 848,000 square feet, the
103,000 square foot suburban development proj8cicies of development land and Eakin and Smitblsgbage and property management
operations plus closing costs of approximately $300.

(d.) Represents the assumption of $37,027,000 ofgage indebtedness at an average rate of 8.0%a@nalwings on the Company's Credit
Facility of $26,653,000 to fund the cash comporgéithe Eakin & Smith Transaction.

(e.) Represents the issuance of 537,137 Units gifidbods/Forsyth Limited Partnership valued at tipellAL, 1996 closing price of the
Company's Common Stock of $27.50 to the sellecoimection with the Eakin & Smith Transaction.

(f.) Represents the issuance of 489,421 sharesmihi®n Stock valued at the April 1, 1996 closing@mof $27.50 to the sellers in connection
with the Eakin & Smith Transaction.

(9.) Represents the adjustment to record the staleeassets of Crocker Realty Trust at theinalues.
(h.) Represents the elimination of the managemamtract and goodwill assets included in the Cro¢kealty Trust historical balance sheet.

(i.) Represents the funding of the cash purchaise for the outstanding common stock of Crockerlfgekrust (26,981,087 shares
outstanding at $11.02 per share or $297,331,00Djtenexpenses of the Crocker Realty Trust Traisa$11,500,000). The total cash
requirement of $308,831,000 is assumed to be fufrdedthe draws under the Company's credit andimtéacility.

(j.) Represents the elimination of the common st additional paid in capital amounts includethim Crocker Realty Trust historical
balance sheet.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIO NS (UNAUDITED)

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1996
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

CROCKER TRANSACTION

EAKIN & SMITH CROCKER PRE-ACQUISI TION PRO FORMA
HISTORICAL(A ) TRANSACTION(B) HISTORICAL(C) RESULTS(D )  ADJUSTMENTS
REVENUE:
Rental property. $3,000 $16,970 $520 $ 300(e)
Other income...........cceeeuns 964 890 12 (563)(f)
3,964 17,860 532 (263)
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Rental property................... 6,154 957 6,310 179 (615)(g)
Leasing, development and
CONStruction..........ccceeee.e -- 452 - -
Depreciation and amortization..... 3,716 526 2,722 108 (317)(h)
Interest expense:
Contractual.........c.cccevene 3,542 739 5,055 215 5,875(i)
Amortization of deferred
financing costs.............. 409 272 -
3,951 739 5,327 215 5,875
General and administrative 153 1,870 (1,673)(j)
Income before minority interest... 1,137 1,631 30 (3,533)
Minority interest................ 108(k)
Net income................. $1,137 $1,631 $ 30 $(3,425)

Net income per share..............
Weighted average shares

PRO FORMA
REVENUE:
Rental property................... $44,175
Other income.............ecc...... 1,675
45,850
OPERATING EXPENSES:
Rental property................... 12,985
Leasing, development and
CONStruction...........cueeene 452
Depreciation and amortization..... 6,755
Interest expense:
Contractual..................... 15,426

Amortization of deferred
financing costs

General and administrative........ 1,284
Income before minority interest... 8,267
Minority interest................ (1,463)

Net income................. $ 6,804

Net income per share.............. $ 0.34
Weighted average shares........... 19,897
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 1996
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed ioimgbstatement of operations is presented aifdhlowing transactions had been
consummated on January 1, 1995: (a) the complefitie Eakin & Smith Transaction and (b) the cortipteof the proposed Crocker Realty
Trust stock purchase and merger (the "Crocker Betitn").

This unaudited pro forma condensed combining statémif operations should be read in conjunctiom wite pro forma condensed combir
balance sheet of the Company, the consolidateddianbstatements and related notes of the Compatiyded in its Annual Report on Form
10-K, the unaudited financial statements and rdlatges of the Company included in its Quarterlp&eon Form 10-Q, and the financial
statements and related notes of the acquired preper

The pro forma condensed combining statement ofabjpers does not reflect approximately $5,000,000af-recurring expenses which the
Company expects to incur in connection with thedken Transaction.

The pro forma condensed combining statement ofadio@s is unaudited and is not necessarily indieadif what the Company's actual res
would have been had the aforementioned transaddictuslly occurred on January 1, 1995 nor doesrjpqrt to represent the future operating
results of the Company.

2. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSEDOMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(a.) Represents the Company's historical statenfesgerations contained in its Quarterly ReporFonm 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31, 1996.

(b.) Reflects the historical statement of operatiohEakin & Smith for the quarter ended March B496.

(c.) Represents the historical statement of opmratof Crocker Realty Trust contained in its QudytReport on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 1996.

(d.) Reflects the historical operations of the Towarc properties, adjusted on a pro forma basisferest and depreciation expense, for the
period of time during 1996 prior to their acquisitiby Crocker Realty Trust.

(e.) Reflects incremental rental income from adeagreement entered into in connection with thekoTransaction.

(f.) Reflects the elimination of certain third-patéasing and property management income of CroRkatty Trust not retained by the
Company.

(9.) Reflects the net adjustment to rental propexiyenses to eliminate the costs related to cestssats (primarily land held for development)
which will be distributed to the current sharehaotdef Crocker Realty Trust ($200,000) and for dartdher property operating costs which
are expected to be eliminated upon the completidheoCrocker Transaction ($415,000).

(h.) Represents the net adjustment to depreciatipense based upon an assumed allocation of thbgae price to land, buildings, furniture
fixtures and equipment, and development in proaeasisbuilding depreciation computed on a straighg-basis using an estimated life of 40
years for buildings and 7 years for furniture, dibds and equipment as follows (in thousan

Eakin & Smith Transaction..........ccccceeeceeeee. L $(73)
Crocker Transaction.......ccocceeeevceveeenncceees e (244)
TOtAl e e, $(317)
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS -- CONTINUED

2. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSEDOMBINING STATEMENT OF
OPERATIONS -- Continued

(i.) Represents the net adjustment to interestrespto reflect interest costs on borrowings unideiGompany's Credit Facility at an assumed
rate of 7.0% (capped interest rate of 30-day LIB&R.50% plus 1.50%) and to allow for a full quamé interest expense on the debt
assumed in the Eakin & Smith and Crocker Transastis as follows (in thousands):

Eakin & Smith Transaction
Crocker Transaction..........

(j.) Represents the net adjustment to general dmdrastrative expense to reflect the estimatedeamental costs to the Company of operating
a Nashville division and to reflect the eliminatiohcertain costs (primarily executive salariegnadstrative costs, the expenses incurred to
generate third-party revenue and the expensesa@igpthe public entitiy) of Crocker Realty Trust Bxpected to be incurred by the
Company as follows (in thousands):

Eakin & Smith Transaction...........ccccceeeeeeeeee. e, $ 47
Crocker Transaction.......cccccvcvvvevveveenenees s (1,720)
TOtAlieciece e e, $(1,673)

(k.) Represents the net adjustment to minorityrageto reflect the pro forma minority interestqeartage of 17.7%.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIO NS (UNAUDITED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

COMBINED

COMPANY
PROPERTIES PRE-CROCKER
RESEARCH AND EAKIN & CROCKER
COMMONS AND EAKIN & SMITH TRANSACTION
SECOND OTHER

THIRD SMITH TR ANSACTIONS CROCKER
HISTORICAL (A) OFFERING (B) ACQUISITIONS (C) OFFERING (D) PRO FORMA (E)  HISTORICAL (F)
REVENUE:

Revenue:

Rental

property........ $71,217 $4,362 $ 12,658 $ - $88,237 $ 9,222 $ 42,489
Other income..... 2,305 50 -- -- 2,355 3,125 1,777

73,522 4,412 12,658 - 90,592 12,347 44,266

OPERATING

EXPENSES:

Rental

property........ 17,049 923 3,368 135 21,475 2,977 13,601
Leasing,

development and

construction.... - - - 583 -
Depreciation and

amortization.... 11,082 985 1,883 - 13,950 1,956 6,772
Interest expense:

Contractual..... 12,101 888 3,586 (1,598) 14,977 2,161 16,212
Amortization of

deferred

financing

COStS.......... 1,619 46 - - 1,665 - 594

13,720 934 3,586 (1,598) 16,642 2,161 16,806

General and
administrative... 2,737 83 -- 98 2,918 763 2,813
Income before

minority

interest....... 28,934 1,487 3,821 4,274
Minority

interest........ (4,937) (384) - (376) (5,697) - -
Income before

extraordinary

item........... $ 23,997 $1,103 $ 3,821 $ 989 $29,910 $ 3,907 $ 4,274
Income per share

before

extraordinary

item.......... $ 1.55
Weighed average
shares......... 15,487

FORSYTH

1,365 35,607 3,907

PRE-
ACQUISITION PRO FORMA PRO

RESULTS (G) ADJUSTMENTS  F ORMA
REVENUE:

Revenue:

Rental

property........ $23,985 $ 1,200(h) $1 65,133

Other income..... 2,380 (2,628)(i) 7,009
26,365 (1,428) 1 72,142

OPERATING

EXPENSES:

Rental

property........ 9,619 (2,030)(j) 45,642

Leasing,

development and

construction.... -- --

Depreciation and

amortization.... 4,881 (972)(k) 26,587

Interest expense:

Contractual..... 5,689 24,282(1) 63,321

Amortization of

deferred

financing

583

-- -- 2,259
5,689 24,282 65,580
General and
administrative... 2,376 (4,652)(m) 4,218
Income before

minority

interest....... 3,800 (18,056) 29,532
Minority

interest........ - 470(n) (5,227)
Income before

extraordinary

item........... $3,800 $(17,517) $ 24,305
Income per share



before

19,897
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed ioimgbstatement of operations is presented agifdhlowing transactions had been
consummated on January 1, 1995:

(a.) the acquisition of 57 properties, 76 acredenfelopment land and the business operations sf/foProperties, Inc. and its affiliates (the
"Forsyth Transaction"),

(b.) the acquisition of six properties (the "Resba€ommons Properties") and 60 acres of developfardtlocated in the Research Comm
office park (the "Research Commons Acquisition"),

(c.) the issuance of 5,640,000 shares of CommockStbthe Company at a price of $20.75 per shaweid in connection with the Forsyth
Transaction (the "Second Offering"),

(d.) the acquisition of 56 properties and six aafedevelopment land (the "Bissell Portfolio") lded in Greensboro, North Carolina and
Charlotte, North Carolina, the acquisition of fipeperties (the "Hock Portfolio") located in DurhaRorth Carolina, the acquisition of six
properties (the "Parkway Plaza Portfolio") locaire€harlotte, North Carolina, the acquisition obtproperties (the "Initial Innsbrook
Portfolio") located in Richmond, Virginia, the adsjtion of six properties (the "Ros&eckman Portfolio") located in Richmond, Virginide
acquisition of two properties (the "DEQ Propertigdated in Richmond, Virginia and the acquisitidré@ acres of development land (the
"DEQ Land") located in Richmond, Virginia (colleatlly, the "Other Acquisitions"),

(e.) the issuance of 4,974,989 shares of Commark $iicthe Company at a price of $24.50 per shére (Third Offering"),
(f.) the completion of the Eakin and Smith Traneagtand
(9.) the completion of the proposed Crocker Regityst stock purchase and merger (the "Crocker Betitn").

This unaudited pro forma condensed combining staemf operations should be read in conjunctioi wie pro forma condensed combir
balance sheet of the Company, the consolidateddinbstatements and related notes of the Compaiyded in its Annual Report on Form
10-K, the unaudited financial statements and rdlatges of the Company included in its Quarterlpéteon Form 10-Q, and the financial
statements and related notes of the acquired preper

The pro forma condensed combining statement ofabipgis does not reflect approximately $5,000,000arf-recurring expenses which the
Company expects to incur in connection with thedkeo Transaction.

The pro forma condensed combining statement ofadipais is unaudited and is not necessarily indieati what the Company's actual res
would have been had the aforementioned transaddictuslly occurred on January 1, 1995 nor doesrjpqrt to represent the future operating
results of the Company.

2. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSEDOMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(a.) Represents the Company's historical statenfeasgierations contained in its Annual Report onnrd0K for the year ended December
1995.

(b.) Reflects the Second Offering and the histbiperations of the Forsyth Properties and Rese@achmons Properties, adjusted on a pro
forma basis for interest and depreciation expeiasdhe period of time during 1995 prior to thefgaisition by the Company.

(c.) Reflects the historical operations of the @thequisitions, adjusted on a pro forma basis fideliest and depreciation expense, for the
period of time during 1995 prior to their acquisitiby the Company.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS -- CONTINUED

2. ADJUSTMENTS TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSEDOMBINING STATEMENT OF

OPERATIONS -- Continued

(d.) Reflects the reduction in interest expense@ated with the repayment of certain debt andatidition of certain incremental rental
property and general and administrative expensagesult of the Bissell and Ross-Kreckman Podfatiquisitions.

(e.) Reflects the historical statement of operatiohEakin & Smith for the year ended Decemberl3®B5.

(f.) Represents the historical statement of opanatof Crocker Realty Trust contained in its AnnRaport on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1995.

(9.) Reflects the historical operations of CRI, GSRMSI, the Sabal properties and the Towermarpgmtees, adjusted on a pro forma basis
for interest and depreciation expense, for theoplesf time during 1995 prior to their acquisition thhe Crocker Realty Trust. The separate
financial statements of Sabal are not includedihere Sabal does not meet the significance testefmarate financial statement presentation.

(h.) Reflects incremental rental income from adeagreement entered into in connection with thek¥oTransaction.

(i.) Reflects the elimination of certain third-paleasing and property management income of CroRkailty Trust not retained by the
Company.

(j.) Reflects the net adjustment to rental propexgenses to eliminate the costs related to cemtggats (primarily land held for development)
which will be distributed to current shareholdef€oocker Realty Trust ($800,000) and for certetimen property operating costs which are
expected to be eliminated upon the completion @fGhocker Transaction ($1,230,000).

(k.) Represents the net adjustment to depreciatipense based upon an assumed allocation of thbgae price to land, buildings, furniture,
fixtures and equipment and development in procedsailding depreciation computed on a straighg-lasis using an estimated life of 40
years for buildings and 7 years for furniture, dibds and equipment as follows (in thousan

Eakin & Smith Transaction.........cccccceeeveeees e $(145)
Crocker TranSacCtioN.....ccccccvvveveiiiiieneeeees e (827)
TOtAl it e $(972)

(I.) Represents the net adjustment to interestresg®o reflect interest costs on borrowings underGompany's Credit Facility and interim
facility at an assumed rate of 7.0% (capped inteete of 30-day LIBOR of 5.50% plus 1.50%) andllow for a full year of interest expense
on the debt assumed at the Eakin & Smith and Crotiansactions, is as follows (in thousands):

Eakin & Smith Transaction..........ccccccceeeeeee. e $ 2,667
Crocker TranSacCtioN......cccccvvveiieiiieeneeeees e 21,615
TOtAl i e $24,282

(m.) Represents the net adjustment to general éméhéstrative expense to reflect the estimatedem@ntal costs to the Company of
operating a Nashville division and to reflect thien@ation of certain costs (primarily executivdaées, administrative costs, the expenses
incurred to generate third-party revenue and tipeeses to operate the public entitiy) of CrockealleTrust not expected to be incurred by
the Company as follows (in thousands):

Eakin & Smith Transaction.........cccccceeeceeee. e $ 37
Crocker TranSaction.......ccoceeevvcieeeenicieces e (4,689)
TOtAl i e $(4,652)

(n.) Represents the net adjustment to minorityré@steto reflect the pro forma minority interestqeartage of 17.7%.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causisdréport to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.

/s/ Carman J. Liuzzo
Carman J. Liuzzo
Vi ce President and Chief Financial Oficer

Date: June 18, 1996
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2.1(1) Stock Purchase Agreement among AP CRTI HghliL.P., AEW Partners, L.P., Thomas J. CrockarbBra F. Crocker, Richard S.
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by reference to Exhibit A of Schedule 13D of Higlatls Properties, Inc., dated April 29, 1996.)
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